

1/29/2015

Page 1

STATE OF MICHIGAN

DETROIT BOARD OF POLICE COMMISSIONERS

REGULAR MEETING

Pages 1 to 51

Taken at 1301 Third Street

Detroit, Michigan

Commencing at 3:00 p.m.

Thursday, January 29, 2015

Before Melinda R. Womack, CSR-3611

1 COMMISSIONERS:

2

3 GEORGE ANTHONY, Secretary

4 WILLIE E. BELL, Chairperson

5 BISHOP EDGAR VANN, Commissioner (Dist. 2))

6 REGINALD CRAWFORD, Commissioner (Dist. 3)

7 RICARDO R. MOORE, Commissioner (Dist. 7)

8 RICHARD SHELBY, Commissioner (Dist. 1)

9 LISA CARTER, Commissioner (Dist. 6)

10 WILLIE BURTON, Commissioner (Dist 5)

11

12

13

14 ALSO PRESENT:

15

16 PAMELA DAVIS-DRAKE, Office of the Chief Investigator

17 SGT. ALAN QUINN, Recorder

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

1 Detroit, Michigan
2 Thursday, January 29, 2015
3 About 3:00 p.m.

4 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Good afternoon. Thank
5 you. I want to welcome you to the weekly meeting of
6 the Board of Police Commissioner. I am Commissioner
7 Willie Bell, your Chair of the Board. We're going to
8 get underway. Seems we have a little snowflakes out
9 there but the day is still a good day to be here at the
10 Board of Police Commissioner. I just want to thank you
11 for coming out this afternoon. I'm going to ask
12 Commissioner Shelby to open with an opening prayer.

13 (Invocation given)

14 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Thank you, Commissioner.
15 I'm going to ask our Board Secretary George Anthony to
16 introduce the commissioners.

17 SECRETARY ANTHONY: Thank you, Mr.
18 Commissioner. For the record, George Anthony secretary
19 to the board. Do roll call of the commissioners.
20 Commissioner Lisa Carter?

21 COMMISSIONER CARTER: Present.

22 SECRETARY ANTHONY: Commissioner Willie
23 Burton.

24 COMMISSIONER BURTON: Present.

25 SECRETARY ANTHONY: Commissioner Reginald

1 Crawford.

2 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Present.

3 SECRETARY ANTHONY: Commissioner Conrad
4 Mallett? Commissioner Ricardo Moore?

5 COMMISSIONER MOORE: Present.

6 SECRETARY ANTHONY: Commissioner Richard
7 Shelby.

8 COMMISSIONER SHELBY: Present.

9 SECRETARY ANTHONY: Commissioner Jessica
10 Taylor has asked to be excused, Mr. Chair.
11 Commissioner Bishop Edgar Vann? Commissioner Donnell
12 R. White has asked to be excused. Mr. Chair, I believe
13 you have a quorum. You have a quorum of six
14 commissioners.

15 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Thank you, sir. And
16 sitting in for Chief James Craig is Deputy Chief Renee
17 Hall. And Mr. Anthony would you introduce the staff
18 of the Board of Police Commission?

19 SECRETARY ANTHONY: Yes, sir. Our Chief
20 Investigator, Pamela Davis-Drake, has stepped away from
21 the room momentarily. But we have recording our
22 proceedings Sergeant Alan Quinn standing in the back
23 and Miss Mindy Womack from Hanson Court Reporting
24 Service. That completes the introductions.

25 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Deputy Chief Hall, do you

1 want to introduce any DPD personnel at this meeting?

2 D.C. HALL: Yes. We have Sergeant Dixon and
3 Sergeant Diehm from property control who'll be
4 presenting today. Sergeant Dennis Perkins is here and,
5 of course, Alan Quinn, who's in the back.

6 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Commissioners, the Chair
7 would entertain a motion to approve the agenda for this
8 meeting.

9 COMMISSIONER MOORE: So moved.

10 COMMISSIONER SHELBY: Support.

11 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Properly moved and
12 supported. Are we ready for the question? Those in
13 favor?

14 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

15 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Those opposed? Motion
16 carries. The next item of business with the approval
17 of the minutes. The Chair would entertain a motion to
18 that effect from Thursday January 22nd, 2015.

19 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: So moved.

20 COMMISSIONER MOORE: Second.

21 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Been properly moved and
22 seconded. Those in favor aye?

23 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

24 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Opposed? Motion carries.

25 As far as my report I just want to say briefly last

1 Friday at Greater Grace I had an opportunity to
2 represent the Board of Police Commissioner along with
3 Commissioner Shelby, Commissioner Crawford. We had 27
4 officers graduate from Recruit School and we had
5 promotion from deputy chief all the way down to
6 sergeant.

7 D.C. HALL: Yes.

8 CHAIRPERSON BELL: So it was a great
9 ceremony. We now have 27 minute police officers been
10 duly trained, and opportunity to bring remarks to
11 officers. Also a week prior to interacting with the
12 academy, and I was pleased with the feedback, and we're
13 looking forward to their career. We should applaud
14 that they have taken the opportunity to become police
15 officers, been a great deal of debate in reference to
16 the benefits and the salary, but my dialogue with them
17 where they were not here for the money. The money is
18 somewhat decent, but we know the starting pay is the
19 lowest in the country, but they raised their right hand
20 and their will to serve and they was enthused about it.
21 If you ever want to witness a graduation ceremony, I
22 would encourage you the next one take advantage of
23 that. It's quite a formal session with officers
24 moving, marching in and the chief giving the oath.
25 It's just really an impressive ceremony. A little bit

1 different than the one I experienced in '71. This
2 one's a little bit more military. So but I was glad I
3 was graduated from the Academy, and like others here
4 who have went through that process, so that was a good
5 day in terms of Academy graduation and promotion.

6 So we'll move right into it's good to see
7 Commissioner Vann that's joined us. Good to see you.
8 We're going to ask, we have on our report OCI monthly
9 update from Chief Investigator Pamela Davis-Drake, and
10 she's going to take the mic.

11 C.I. DAVIS-DRAKE: Good afternoon,
12 Commissioner.

13 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Afternoon.

14 C.I. DAVIS-DRAKE: Afternoon Commissioners.
15 For the record, Pamela Davis-Drake, Chief Investigator.
16 The OCI Chief Investigator's report for today,
17 Thursday, January 29, 2015 is as follows: We have a
18 total of a 185 cases that are currently open, 24 cases
19 have been submitted for closure either to myself or to
20 a supervisor, and we do have one case that's actively
21 over 90 days that has not been yet submitted. That
22 report I reviewed and it was incomplete. There needed
23 to be some work done on it and some continued
24 investigation. An extension request was submitted. I
25 did approve that extension request for another two

1 weeks to get that information completed, and that's
2 well within our purview to be able to do that.

3 Quick move update. The anticipated
4 renovations that date of completion has moved once
5 again. We are now looking at the end of March or the
6 beginning of April. So we're going to get that spring
7 weather that we were hoping for it looks like.

8 We still have an investigator vacancy.
9 Interviews have been rescheduled as a result of my
10 absence, but we're targeting next week for that. Also
11 at some point and at the board's pleasure, we need to
12 reschedule the strategic planning session, the second
13 series of that. So that concludes my report.

14 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Commissioners, any
15 questions or comments in reference to Chief
16 Investigator report? I do have one concern in
17 reference to we have discussion in terms of our
18 findings submitted to the Chief of Police, and we would
19 like to have some type of feedback in terms of outcome
20 of the Chief's action or no action or whatever. My
21 understanding that we really don't know. My concern
22 for this outcome I said some instance we don't really
23 know, but that's something that by the Charter we are
24 charged with investigating citizen's complaints.

25 And there was another area of concern in

1 terms of the media relation reported last week. There
2 was some dialogue about complaints coming into the
3 Chief's office and they have resolved those complaints,
4 but do we have some inkling or some tracking since we
5 are charged with citizen's complaints that in reference
6 to Detroit Police Department overall? Did we get any
7 feedback in reference to, you might not know, if not
8 Deputy Chief. You know how that works? I don't.

9 C.I. DAVIS-DRAKE: You're speaking of the
10 complaints that go directly to the Chief's office?

11 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Yes, ma'am.

12 C.I. DAVIS-DRAKE: We are not privy to those,
13 unless it involves one of us, but we are not privy to
14 those.

15 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Deputy Chief, can you
16 respond to our remarks?

17 D.C. HALL: Let me make sure I understand
18 your question. Those citizen's complaints that go
19 straight to the Detroit Police Department, what is the
20 outcome of them and is there a --

21 CHAIRPERSON BELL: I guess we need to know
22 the nature of them. We need to know the outcome, since
23 we are charged with citizen's complaints against the
24 Detroit Police Department. I don't think the Chief
25 office is exempt on our charter mandate.

1 D.C. HALL: Absolutely.

2 CHAIRPERSON BELL: I might be on some grounds
3 that we haven't been on before, but I looked at that
4 and I just think that we really should have some
5 findings in reference to what is transpiring since we
6 have to report out and we still on review on the
7 Justice Department for another 15 months or so, is that
8 something --

9 C.I. DAVIS-DRAKE: That is true. And I'm
10 sorry, Deputy Chief, if you don't mind me just for
11 clarification purposes.

12 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Yes, ma'am.

13 C.I. DAVIS-DRAKE: I think there were two
14 things that you asked, one was those going to the
15 Chief's office.

16 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Yes, ma'am, from my
17 office.

18 C.I. DAVIS-DRAKE: Right, and not going from
19 our office.

20 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Yes.

21 C.I. DAVIS-DRAKE: Okay. When we complete a
22 citizen's complaint report, those go to our office, and
23 we don't always find out -- or to the Chief's office.
24 We don't always find out what the disciplinary action
25 is, and that I can check on.

1 I think the other question was whether or not
2 we are privy to those reports that go directly to the
3 Chief's office or to DPD.

4 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Yes.

5 C.I. DAVIS-DRAKE: The ones that go to the
6 precincts do come to us.

7 CHAIRPERSON BELL: And stay on that.

8 C.I. DAVIS-DRAKE: Yes.

9 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Stay on that.

10 C.I. DAVIS-DRAKE: Yes. They complete the
11 CPR report and those are sent directly to us. We do
12 authorize them and complete an investigation on them.
13 At times, though, there are complaints that are made
14 through the Chief's office and we are not privy to
15 those.

16 D.C. HALL: And those are tracked. They
17 usually go out in the form of Chief's route slip to the
18 respective command. The command conducts the
19 investigation. The findings comes back to the Chief's
20 office. I think that's just a process of making sure
21 that you get that information. But it is tracked and
22 something done about it each and every time.

23 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Commissioner Shelby, then
24 Commission Crawford.

25 COMMISSIONER SHELBY: Through the Chair. In

1 the past what they used to do is after settling a case,
2 a disciplinary case they would put out a personnel
3 order, and they would do the disposition you got three
4 days whether you were exonerated, and I don't think
5 they do that anymore.

6 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Mr. Crawford?

7 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Yes, ma'am. And also
8 too I just had concern about the complementary to what
9 the Chairperson said, Bell said. The number of
10 complaints too because that overall you support or give
11 us stats, statistics every month, and if there are a
12 number of complaints going to the Chief's office, we
13 have no knowledge of that number.

14 C.I. DAVIS-DRAKE: I have no idea. I'm sure
15 that they are handled through the Chief's office.

16 D.C. HALL: They are usually. They come in
17 via e-mail, some regular mail. I don't have the answer
18 to how they're actually -- how they all come in, what
19 number comes in via e-mail versus something else, but I
20 do know that each one of them is tracked, given a
21 number, a Chief's roster number and then disseminated
22 and then sent back up once the investigation is
23 complete, so that's just a process of us sitting down
24 and saying here, this is how this information is
25 disseminated, here's how it comes in, but the Chief's

1 office will be able to provide that information, I'm
2 sure.

3 CHAIRPERSON BELL: I have one more question.
4 Is that somewhat part of your annual report?

5 D.C. HALL: I do not want to speak out of
6 turn, so I do not have that information, but I will
7 profile that information to you.

8 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Council, what I'm
9 conveying to Commissioners that report out end of the
10 year 1800 complaints, but that's not totally accurate
11 because there's another pool of complaints that come in
12 on another entity and we need to really sort of mesh
13 that together and finding. And one more final comment
14 in reference to if we're talking about high-risk
15 officers, officers who might not be disciplined, I
16 think Chief indicated in the past there's sometime
17 counseling we know in reference to how do we monitor in
18 terms of before we get serious, so those are concerns
19 that we really need to have some insight on in terms of
20 trying to look at how do we address these concerns that
21 we can report fairly and so this is the outcome,
22 etcetera, etcetera. Thank you.

23 COMMISSIONER MOORE: Through the Chair.

24 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Yes, sir.

25 COMMISSIONER MOORE: Point of clarification.

1 You mean complaints coming in about officers
2 specifically?

3 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Yes.

4 COMMISSIONER MOORE: Or complaints about
5 cars?

6 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Well I don't know how, you
7 know, I know the Chief's office receives complaints.
8 Sergeant Woody said they receive complaints and they
9 handle it and we're just trying to flush out exactly
10 what that means in terms of complaints. I assume that,
11 you know, that's what we're trying to sort out. Chief
12 Washington would like to respond.

13 D.C. WASHINGTON: Just very quickly.

14 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Yes, ma'am.

15 D.C. WASHINGTON: Celia Washington. Just
16 two quick things, and I would -- this is one of the
17 things that Chief Investigator Drake wanted to get her
18 hands around when she first came on, reverting back to
19 my old days. The law department, Tish Jones and those
20 folks over there that actually handle the disciplinary
21 through the end and think with Mike Garrish now what we
22 can do, and I'll reach out to Mike and to Tish and see
23 if we can close that loop because for a while it was an
24 issue because some of the citizen complaints were just
25 so old and there simply wasn't anything being done on

1 it because it couldn't be because it was greater than
2 the 18-month threshold. But now the OCI is up to date.
3 What I'll do is I'll make sure that we double back and
4 provide the feedback necessary and the outcome.

5 In terms of citizen complaints that come to
6 the Chief's office, I'm not aware that there are a ton
7 of citizen complaints. Generally when we get phone
8 calls we refer them to OCI, so I don't want this board
9 to think that there is another slew of random citizen
10 complaints out there that are not being handled or that
11 are somehow missing the OCI, so that just isn't the
12 case.

13 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Thank you for that
14 clarification.

15 COMMISSIONER VANN: My previous experience as
16 a commissioner, I just wanted to because I think it's
17 important, the communication here I think is very
18 important. Without that communication, a complaint can
19 go directly to the Chief's office, they would handle
20 that particular complaint. We could still be housing a
21 similar complaint by the same kind of a plaintiff in
22 OCI. And so we would still have staff expending hours
23 working on a case that may have already been settled in
24 some way, shape, form or fashion. I just think it's
25 import -- and reasonable from our oversight perspective

1 to make sure that we are working with the same sets of
2 information so that the citizen complaints that may
3 come to the Chief's office, I think it's a reasonable
4 thing for us to ask that we have some communication
5 mechanism that helps us to understand that.

6 D.C. WASHINGTON: And you're absolutely
7 right, because sometimes if they don't get a response
8 one way, they will double back to OCI, and again, it's
9 duplicative, but what I'll do when I go back upstairs,
10 we'll talk with the sergeant who actually receives the
11 complaints and make sure that we close that loop and
12 communicate.

13 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Thank you. Deputy Chief
14 Washington, could you continue at the mic? Thank you
15 Chief Investigator Drake.

16 C.I. DAVIS-DRAKE: Thank you.

17 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Thank you. The council
18 hearing yesterday at the closing, you suggested that
19 they extend the timeframe for the --

20 D.C. WASHINGTON: The moratorium?

21 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Yes. Could you speak to
22 that, please, if the Deputy Chief don't mind?

23 D.C. HALL: No.

24 D.C. WASHINGTON: Just very quickly, I do
25 appreciate the opportunity. Actually when this came up

1 before the board I talked to the secretary about it, I
2 wasn't here to address it. At the last community
3 meeting I believe it was brought to this board's
4 attention there had been somehow a lack of
5 communication between the taxi cab drivers and the
6 department, and that is not true. In all fairness to
7 Kabaka, Mr. Reynolds and the others, they had been
8 trying to get their members of their association to
9 commit those complaints where they perceived them to be
10 a violation of the moratorium and they were somewhat
11 slow in getting them to him. After I heard about the
12 presentation to the board, the beginning of the month I
13 kind of had a conniption. I know that we had been
14 working very hard to make that happen, so he did
15 deliver a number of tickets to me on the 9th of
16 January, and I had Captain Petty and his group do
17 research for each and every one of them and all of them
18 fell into three categories. Either the tickets were
19 issued before the moratorium, and we're calling it a
20 moratorium, but it was a temporary suspension of the
21 issuance of tickets in the downtown area in some very
22 limited categories. In the case if trip sheets that
23 were incomplete, for example, if the taxi cab driver
24 didn't indicate the address for MGM and simply put in
25 MGM, he would not be cited for it. And then the other

1 had to do with overloading taxi cab stands. So of
2 those violations and citations that were issued, they
3 were either issued before the moratorium, they were
4 issued in areas other than the downtown Detroit
5 district or they had to do with safety violations,
6 running red lights, U-turns, other things that involved
7 passenger safety.

8 So the Chief met with the Taxicab Driver's
9 Association. I believe some of the commissioners were
10 actually at that meeting. Tonja Long at the law
11 department was charged with drafting a vehicle for
12 hire, and I won't bore the board with the history of
13 that ordinance. But the issue at hand is Uber and
14 other what they call network transportation company's,
15 people that don't have to be regulated the way taxi cab
16 drivers do.

17 So she's completed her draft of the
18 ordinance. We are to meet Council President
19 Cushingberry said that we're meeting next week to tweak
20 that ordinance. The moratorium that we started in
21 October and had been extending it month to month, what
22 you heard yesterday was my request, or for the
23 president's pleasure, how much longer should we do that
24 because when we come back, we go back before them I
25 think the 2nd or the 3rd. The moratorium was scheduled

1 to expire the 3rd or the 4th. So we'll address that
2 again next week, but for now, we've granted them an
3 additional 30 days until we get it right.

4 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Any comments from the
5 commissioners? I really want to thank you for raising
6 that issue in terms of extending that. It was real
7 thought out. I guess commissioner Cushingberry,
8 Councilman Cushingberry wants to resolve this issue.

9 D.C. WASHINGTON: He wants to do it quickly,
10 and I can appreciate that and the taxicab drivers, some
11 of what they want the police department cannot give
12 them. Some of what they want they're battling state
13 statute, they're battling some other fights with those
14 companies. The police department's role is to enforce
15 the law that's written, and we will do that as soon as
16 we have a law that's written, and I think it's only
17 fair that we cut them some slack until we get there.

18 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Thank you.

19 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: I just have one
20 question because I did attend one meeting and I want to
21 thank you for those who extended that moratorium
22 because that was one of their issues, and I've been in
23 communication with Brother Kabaka. So thanks for the
24 work, and hopefully I won't be told I have to go to
25 anymore meetings, even though I would not adhere to

1 that anyway.

2 D.C. WASHINGTON: Yeah, I was going to say.
3 But anytime that you have any questions, I think all of
4 you know how to reach me and I'll be happy to answer.

5 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Thank you for the
6 initiative and thank you for your service. Appreciate
7 it, because communication, we want to try to resolve
8 that so we don't have these ongoing type of debates
9 here so thank you again.

10 D.C. WASHINGTON: Yeah, I did take that a
11 little personally because we really --

12 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Reached out.

13 D.C. WASHINGTON: The other thing, too,
14 Commissioner Ron Brundidge was at the meeting
15 yesterday, and he's a critical piece to this because he
16 assigned the additional taxicab stands. And quite
17 honestly, I think before yesterday he wasn't engaged in
18 the process, so I think that will change things.

19 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Thank you. Deputy Chief
20 Hall.

21 D.C. HALL: Good evening, board. Just couple
22 things to report. We had a Restore Order Operation
23 called Winter Elite on yesterday, very successful
24 operation. It was behind, on the heels of we had some
25 children who were victims of violent crime over the

1 past week. As we all know, we've seen in the news and
2 we recognize that gun violence is really plaguing our
3 city. So on yesterday our operation went from 7 a.m.
4 to 3 a.m. We had some really wonderful stats there.
5 We had about 34 arrests, 24 of them being felony
6 arrests. We took about 12 handguns and two shotguns
7 off the street. We got about \$226,000 in proceeds in
8 pills. Also we got about \$10,000 in proceeds from
9 narcotics, which is heroin and cocaine, and upwards of
10 \$49,000 in cash off the street yesterday during our
11 operation, a host of tickets. And so we had a
12 successful operation vigorously going after those
13 individuals who are involved in violent crimes to
14 ensure that our citizens are safe and that's what we're
15 continuing to do under Chief Craig's watch. We're
16 committed to it, and that's what we're doing. So that
17 was what we did this week.

18 Right now we're going to have property
19 control. I did not introduce D.C. Celia Washington,
20 Director Oxendine was here, Jack Fennessey, who's in
21 our tech support, and director Scott Hayes, but
22 property control will have a presentation by you. I'm
23 sorry, Captain Jarvis. She just walked in for me too.
24 Captain Jarvis, I apologize.

25 CHAIRPERSON BELL: We already saluted you in

1 reference to Captain and Director Gail in terms of the
2 graduation class. We were fully impressed. Yes, sir.

3 COMMISSIONER VANN: I just had a question for
4 the Chief. You know, we've experienced in our city the
5 extremely unfortunate shootings of young children in
6 homes, and I think it distresses us all to hear about
7 it, to see about it, the heart wrenching stories that
8 we hear. We also hear as a part of these stories the
9 fact that persons are being charged with different
10 kinds of offenses with regard to the guns that are
11 confiscated. Can you just give us a little bit of
12 clarity on that? So if a gun is in a house is
13 determined to be that the owner is determined or is it
14 just a gun in the house or, you know, I know that these
15 guns have basically been attributed to people who may
16 have been felons and that kind of thing, which
17 exacerbates the problem, but just for our reference and
18 clarification, how do you handle the fact that there's
19 a gun in the house? Does it belong to someone for
20 which that person is charged or is the homeowner
21 charged?

22 D.C. HALL: The circumstances they vary. In
23 some cases you have a -- you have a right to bear arms
24 so individuals have a right to have a gun in their
25 home. However, if those individuals are felons, as in

1 one of the cases that we just had, that individual did
2 not have a legal right to have a weapon in the home.
3 So that individual is charged as a felon in possession
4 of a firearm, and also he failed to secure the weapon
5 properly, which led to the victim, the 13-year-old,
6 being shot and killed. So those are the charges that
7 come along with that.

8 And then there are also even if you're a
9 legal gun owner and the gun is registered, you still
10 have a responsibility with children in the house to
11 properly secure the gun. So it's up to the
12 prosecutor's office how they charge, but those are some
13 of the circumstances that surround having a gun in the
14 home. And people need to understand where you have a
15 right to bear arms, it comes with a whole lot of
16 responsibility, and those who have guns have a legal
17 responsibility to ensure the safety of themselves and
18 those surrounding them. Unless D.C., did you have
19 anything to add to that?

20 COMMISSIONER VANN: Which is probably a part
21 of the education process that needs to take place as
22 well. I'm not so sure that everybody understands that.
23 I'm not so sure that everybody in their homes
24 understands that and so --

25 D.C. HALL: Well what we're doing from the

1 Detroit Police Department, we do have our neighborhood
2 police officers who are actively going out and
3 educating the students as well as their parents in
4 every precinct, community relations, meetings regarding
5 gun safety. We're also going to be handing out, I
6 think we have more than 200 gunlocks right now. It
7 might be 2000, forgive me. It's 2000, 2000 gunlocks
8 that we will be handing out to citizens just to
9 encourage them to utilize these gun safety locks and
10 protect their children. So we're trying to be as
11 proactive, and in some cases we're reactive, but
12 proactive in some areas to prevent the kind of violence
13 that we're seeing perpetrated against these children,
14 so.

15 COMMISSIONER VANN: That's very good. I'd
16 like to be involved if you have gunlocks and you need
17 to find a way to disseminate, I'd like to help. I've
18 been very very involved in the gun buybacks in the
19 past, but I know that's not something that this
20 administration is very fond of. But the gunlocks piece
21 will be something I'd be very happy to help with.

22 D.C. HALL: Absolutely, sir. We'll make that
23 happen.

24 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Thank you, Commissioner
25 Vann. You're right on point. It's really disturbing.

1 D.C. HALL: Property control.

2 SERGEANT DIXON: Good afternoon. I'm Derrick
3 Dixon. This is my partner David Diehm. Hello Deputy
4 Chief Hall and our Honorable Board of Police
5 Commissioners. We're certainly honored to be able to
6 share with you what we do, your property control
7 sergeants and officers do, and distinguished guests.
8 This is our presentation for property control, and it
9 is forthcoming.

10 What we do with property control, our goal is
11 to have efficient management and security of evidence.
12 As of right now, we have over 420,000 pieces of
13 evidence, over 42,000 as you see narcotics tags, over
14 40,000 firearms, and we have two locations. And those
15 locations are managed by two sergeants, Sergeant Diehm
16 and myself, and three police officers. We are located
17 right here at 1301 Third, Room 107. And we also have
18 another site which is located at Linden, and that's
19 where we also store some of our evidence.

20 What we do is we receive, transfer, and
21 process evidence. And that comes from the precincts,
22 the labs and the homicides. We process nearly 700,
23 over 700 pieces of evidence daily. We take in money,
24 jewelry, narcotics, firearms and anything that is of
25 value. This evidence is used for court cases, for lab

1 analysis, and we return the property to the rightful
2 owners and turn over to other agencies as well.

3 What we do is we deposit money, lots of it.
4 We deposit forfeited proceeds. Unclaimed money goes
5 into our general fund, and also we deposited nearly 1.5
6 million dollars, and that was from January 1st, 2014 to
7 December 31st 2014. We destroy firearms that's part of
8 our inventory, so we try to get rid of some of our
9 inventory so we destroy firearms. As you heard, we
10 currently store over 40,000. So right now we are back
11 working on having bi-weekly destruction of firearms.
12 Our handguns, that's handled through Michigan State
13 Police because that's through the state, which is
14 something that's handled by the state, but we'll go and
15 we'll meet with the state and we will dispose of
16 firearms under the regulation of the state police. Our
17 long guns go to Severstal and we're continually working
18 on disposing of firearms so we can reduce our
19 inventory. We also burn narcotics so we can also
20 reduce our inventory.

21 Once again, we've just had conversation to
22 start back burning narcotics every two weeks depending
23 upon whether or not their boilers are up or not, but
24 that's what we'll do, we'll burn those narcotics and
25 give us space, so that we can have room for new

1 narcotics that come into our possession. We burned
2 over 6,300 items of narcotics last year and it freed up
3 valuable narcotics space.

4 We also have -- we also auction off property
5 on our sales. We have a professional auctioneer that
6 auctions off any valuables that come into our
7 possession that do not belong to the citizens that have
8 been found and not able to be returned to citizens. It
9 saves us money by us not having to do it and by have a
10 professional auctioneer, and it saves personnel costs
11 as well. What that does is, as you see, it reduces our
12 inventory, it opens up valuable storage space for us,
13 and that property that is deemed not to be of any
14 value, it goes to the incinerator by our officers, they
15 take it by truck.

16 Our successes as you will see, we have
17 facilitated and was instrumental in the processing of
18 over 10,000 rape kits with the Wayne County
19 Prosecutor's project 400. We reduced our monies by
20 having more frequent deposits. We have reduced our
21 firearms. We have reduced narcotics, and we have
22 reduced costs. Being that you have to do more with
23 less, we have learned to do more with less. As we
24 stated earlier, we have two sergeants and three
25 officers and we manage over 420,000 pieces of evidence.

1 Any questions?

2 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Commissioners?

3 COMMISSIONER SHELBY: Currently how many rape
4 kits do you have in storage.

5 SERGEANT DIEHM: We have probably a total of
6 just over 11,000 in the computer system, but we have
7 nearly 8,000 or better that are out being tested
8 through a program with Michigan State Police. Those
9 are starting to come back. As a matter of fact, we
10 received about 450 day before yesterday. Those are
11 being put back into our inventory for storage.

12 COMMISSIONER VANN: Just a quick question.
13 Of course, the obvious question is there a forfeiture
14 cash that goes back into the police budget?

15 SERGEANT DIXON: Yes. As we don't -- we just
16 make the deposits and so those funds are used as we, as
17 we, as we know of to help fight crime within the city.

18 D.C. HALL: That's correct.

19 SERGEANT DIXON: Narcotic.

20 D.C. HALL: That's correct. There's a
21 process that it goes through, and once it has gone
22 through all those processes, unclaimed and those
23 things, then it's gone back into the police forfeiture
24 budget to be used for training and things like that for
25 the Police Department.

1 COMMISSIONER MOORE: Just a point of
2 clarification, it's not just the city's general fund it
3 goes into?

4 D.C. HALL: That's correct.

5 COMMISSIONER SHELBY: The other question
6 through the Chair. With the long guns you're talking
7 about Severstal. What is that? Is that a private
8 company? What do they do with the long guns?

9 SERGEANT DIEHM: Severstal used to be Ford
10 Rouge Plant where they melt the steel and they take
11 them and put them in a huge hopper and melt them all
12 down.

13 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Yes, through the
14 Chair. Sir, do you do an annual audit or when was the
15 last time you'd done an audit?

16 SERGEANT DIXON: We are usually under the
17 umbrella of our Internal Affairs that comes in and they
18 will do popup monitoring of what happens or what's
19 going on in property control. And right now we're
20 doing an audit right now of the 400,000 pieces or
21 420,000 pieces that we have.

22 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Currently doing the
23 audit.

24 SERGEANT DIXON: Yes.

25 SERGEANT DIEHM: Continuous.

1 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Thank you.

2 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Any other questions,
3 concerns. I do have one question, really two. How do
4 we handle officers transferring narcotics to court
5 cases, especially I assume at a certain timeframe you
6 close. How do we handle after hours in terms of making
7 sure evidence is chained and proper process? Could you
8 elaborate on that?

9 MR. DIXON: Yes, Commissioner. That chain of
10 custody is maintained by the officers who will either
11 take those narcotics back to the narcotic base for
12 processing where they will document, there's
13 documentation through our Tracker system, we have a new
14 Tracker system for tracking evidence, and that
15 information is put into the Tracker system and that
16 evidence is received and notated that this officer has
17 brought, he or she has brought this evidence back.

18 D.C. HALL: It's prisoner processing. Don't
19 they go through prisoner process unit?

20 SERGEANT DIXON: Yes, that's correct, Chief.

21 CHAIRPERSON BELL: One more question.
22 Forfeiture money, you probably don't have the answer,
23 but I'm going to pose the question to perhaps the
24 Deputy Chief. How much is spent in reference to
25 forfeiture log for drug education prevention?

1 D.C. HALL: I don't have the actual dollar
2 amount, but I do know that that is exactly what we do
3 for education and training. So I would have to get
4 back to you on the actual dollar amount because I do
5 not have that with me at this time.

6 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Okay. Do we have officers
7 going out to educate?

8 D.C. HALL: Are you speaking of DARE, the
9 DARE program that we used to have or just drug
10 education and training? Officers are sent to
11 various --

12 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Mike Lemon used to do a
13 whole lot of that.

14 D.C. HALL: That was the DARE program. We
15 don't have the DARE program anymore, but we do have
16 vigorous drug enforcement training that officers are
17 either sent in various locations throughout Michigan or
18 across the 50 states to receive training, and that
19 money goes to the education and training of those
20 officers.

21 CHAIRPERSON BELL: I guess I need to clarify.
22 I'm not speaking of police officers. I'm only speaking
23 of especially the community and our young people making
24 them aware of the drug education that was designed in
25 reference to forfeiture money. I have some experience

1 in the past on how that did not happen. I'm just
2 curious in terms of is that still built into the law.

3 D.C. HALL: You know, I don't have the
4 information with that, but I will definitely make sure
5 that this board gets that information, what the actual
6 laws for forfeiture is and if that education and
7 training piece that used to be covered by DARE is still
8 on the books as a law or if it's filtered through
9 education and training through our neighborhood police
10 officers providing training in the schools, because we
11 still provide our public schools, charter schools with
12 drug awareness and education. It's not through a
13 necessary a DARE program. So I don't know if it's
14 filtered through that, how it's done through community
15 policing, but that process still takes place, but it's
16 not a formalized DARE program anymore.

17 CHAIRPERSON BELL: I would really like to see
18 what's happening because drug education, you know, the
19 war on drugs ended when 9-11 started and we still have
20 young people still engaging in reference to not just
21 the use, but also sell. But basically we try to
22 enlighten them. They want to get street knowledge.
23 They really get inside. We know why they call it dope,
24 you know. So we want to enlighten them in reference to
25 the pros and cons at an early age and that's just been

1 my contention, elementary school especially because
2 when they get to high school and they get
3 sophisticated, as you well know.

4 D.C. HALL: Absolutely. And I'll get all the
5 information for you and make sure that we're all aware
6 of exactly what's going on.

7 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Okay.

8 D.C. HALL: Thank you.

9 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Any questions for the
10 property officer? Thank you, sergeants. Appreciate
11 it.

12 SERGEANT DIXON: Thank you very much. We
13 appreciate it.

14 CHAIRPERSON BELL: The next item of business
15 would be standing committee reports. Any new business
16 that we might have? Any old business? Announcements.
17 The next Board Community meeting will take place on
18 February 12th. That will be the second Thursday of the
19 month at Nature Human Service Center 13560 Six Mile
20 Road, McNichols I say the area for those you west
21 siders again I say it again on Gratiot and Six Mile.
22 It's right on the corner. Commissioner Crawford, he
23 want to think that it's his district. The building is
24 in my district, but the street is in his district. The
25 next meeting of the Board will take place on February

1 the 5th here at the Public Safety Building at 3:00. So
2 please feel free to come out at our next meeting and
3 let people know about our community meetings. We still
4 trying to work up the agenda for that meeting. Mr.
5 Anthony, is that correct?

6 SECRETARY ANTHONY: That's correct.

7 CHAIRPERSON BELL: And our guests. Now
8 getting back to the agenda for this afternoon meeting.
9 Oral communication from the audience, please give your
10 name, and the time limit is two minutes. We are
11 somewhat flexible with that, but hopefully you'll be
12 respectful because we respect you. If you want to come
13 to the mic.

14 D.C. HALL: Excuse me, through the Chair. I
15 just wanted to make a quick announcement. I was just
16 informed that as of the fourth Thursday in February the
17 Department will be presenting the Board with a report
18 regarding all the outcomes of disciplinary that comes
19 out of any of the OCI's.

20 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Thank you Deputy Chief and
21 Deputy Chief Washington and Deputy Chief Hall, I like
22 that quick response.

23 D.C. HALL: Yes, sir. We aim to please.

24 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Because we all want
25 this -- we all want to be on the same page.

1 D.C. HALL: Yes, sir, absolutely.

2 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Make sure that this will
3 be a good year providing public statements to Detroit.
4 So council, three times and they close the door on us
5 so this is your opportunity if you want to come
6 forward.

7 MR. LEE: Afternoon commissioners and
8 everyone. My name is William Roy Lee, Sr. I am a
9 combat decorated Viet Nam veteran serving two tours
10 there. I am a retired system analyst for Ford Motor
11 Company. One time I was a lead programmer for their
12 production system. I am here today on behalf of my son
13 who was convicted last week in Judge Talon's court of
14 first degree murder, aiding and abetting in a murder.

15 We have a number of things that we'll be
16 doing now. We've already contacted Wayne County
17 prosecutor. I've already written 2000 letter essay to
18 the FBI, and I'm here to support -- we're going to go
19 through that process, and I'm here to support this
20 family right here. And we're telling this now, we came
21 down yesterday to talk to someone in the Chief's office
22 and we did have a great conversation with a lady out of
23 there that came out and helped us, but she told us
24 exactly what you guys just said. She told us to have
25 the young lady get a gun. This is what has happened.

1 This young lady, her life is on the line. In 2013 her
2 cousin killed someone and told her about it two days
3 after, not knowing that a year and a half later her
4 brother and my son would be convicted of the same
5 crime.

6 When they were convicted, this leader of a
7 gang in Northwest Detroit had disappeared. He came
8 back and he put the word out, this is her cousin, that
9 if she talks, he's going to kill her. The officer in
10 charge was well aware of this in 2013. The jury was
11 not allowed to hear the confession where there were
12 three men in the same courtroom, two charged with
13 aiding and abetting, one as being accomplice in the
14 murder. He did confess. He did tell the entire story.
15 Once this story was told, the threat came out on this
16 young mother right here that he is going to kill her if
17 she now talks.

18 We talked with the deputy downstairs
19 yesterday because I was unaware of it. It took me
20 three days to get over the guilty verdict even though
21 all of the evidence points to the person who actually
22 said it. So I'm speaking first because I'm going
23 through the legal process. I have already wrote that
24 letter to the FBI because of all the things that
25 happened in the court.

1 It started November the 21st when the police
2 officer called me and said we want to talk to your son,
3 but we aren't able to find him. I called him the next
4 day. He calls me and says dad, I'm in the back of a
5 police car, I'm being arrested for murder. That's
6 where it all started at.

7 And in court, the prosecutor made a number of
8 lies. I hope I'm not expanding my two minutes. I'm
9 just saying I want to talk because this mother here,
10 she and I sat in that courtroom every day. I saw
11 everything that happened. My two minutes is up is
12 fine. I just wanted to bring her up because yesterday
13 when we were talking to the deputy, it overwhelmed her
14 so I know she wouldn't be able to tell it. But we're
15 going to do our legal process, but we cannot get anyone
16 to go back into that neighborhood now that the leader
17 of that gang is back putting the word out to locate
18 this guy. He's already shot one woman. We know for a
19 fact -- well I don't know it for a fact, I heard that
20 he in Massachusetts killed someone and robbed a jewelry
21 store. So I'm going to let the mother talk because she
22 can't -- once she starts talking, it overwhelms her.

23 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Thank you, sir.

24 MR. LEE: Thank you.

25 MS. TOMPKINS: Hi. My name is Dorothy, and I

1 talked to a Detective Mott, which he said he's been a
2 police officer for over nine years. He wouldn't listen
3 to me. He wouldn't let me identify my nephew where he
4 went in the store like this, he came out, and when he
5 shot that boy I gave him his address. I gave Detective
6 Mott the license plate number of the car he drive and I
7 asked Detective Mott was he going to pick him up. He
8 lied and said he sent a car out there. I don't know if
9 Mike Reynolds, he stated that he had nothing over what
10 Detective Mott said. He had a whole lot of evidence
11 that had been destroyed that he had. He said that my
12 nephew said in his video arraignment that he named my
13 son. My son was not named in no video arraignment, not
14 neither one, not Bill's not Lele's. All his statement
15 said, my son knew nothing about it being I know my son
16 didn't.

17 I was stabbed 27 times in a crime and a man
18 got convicted because I was able to make it and come
19 back to life after being dead in a hospital five days.
20 And for him to take my son and let my nephew stay out
21 here killing, shooting, and robbing, and I told him
22 this. And he said he's an officer of the law, not a
23 detective. For him not to do nothing about it is way
24 beyond me. He wouldn't let me identify my nephew. I
25 know my nephew when I see him. And I told him when I

1 seen that picture in court on that video I said that's
2 my nephew. Look at him. Nothing I could do about my
3 son now. He's got to go to prison and wait for appeal.
4 But if he kill my daughter, that's my baby girl, he
5 kill my baby, what's going to be done?

6 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Ma'am, I assume that
7 Deputy Chief Hall will talk with you privately after
8 the meeting.

9 D.C. HALL: Yes, we can talk after the
10 meeting.

11 CHAIRPERSON BELL: And thank you for bringing
12 this to our attention. And thank you, sir, for
13 bringing it to our attention. Any other comments from
14 the audience?

15 MR. SCOTT: Good afternoon. I'm Ron Scott,
16 and, of course, and I'd like to, you know, touched by
17 what was said, but I'm glad that Deputy Chief Hall
18 mentioned the training and the insight about gun
19 safety.

20 As you know, I've been very vociferous in
21 raising questions about the chief last year suggesting
22 that individuals get a gun to protect themselves and
23 homes. And without the concurrent statement strongly
24 as I felt that it should have been made anyway, that
25 you have to have responsibility, not just the 4th

1 Amendment right -- I'm mean not just the 2nd Amendment
2 rather, but it's responsibility. And the circumstances
3 are, you know, like I don't care, I got to submit to
4 the wild west theory because even the people in the
5 wild west made you check your guns when you came to
6 town. So we have to have a citizenry that isn't told
7 that you can just have a gun to protect yourself and
8 stop crime, because in the many cases, many of the
9 cases we're seeing now, people are using these guns.
10 And I don't know if this department is familiar with
11 it, but there are numerous -- there's a lot of research
12 that is coming to the fore that when individuals have
13 guns and they do not use them necessarily to dissuade
14 individuals from breaking in the home, specifically in
15 terms of men how have guns in many cases they turn them
16 on the women, and they shoot women. And so, therefore,
17 we have to really be serious before we go on television
18 or any way and say get a gun to protect yourself.

19 I think every officer in here knows the
20 shoot-don't-shoot scenario. They have a difficult time
21 with it, so you know how it is for citizens. I thank
22 you for saying that, Deputy Chief, because I feel very
23 strongly about that. I don't think everybody should
24 have a gun. I don't think they're responsible,
25 reasonable or intelligent or passionate enough to know

1 what that little cannon in your hand can do or what
2 that long gun can do, you know. I've had training.
3 I've used guns since I was 13. I don't carry one now
4 because I know what it can do. I just want to say
5 that.

6 Secondly, and I'll make this very quick,
7 yesterday, you know about the situation with the Aiyana
8 Jones situation, I want to bring this to your
9 attention. There's a lot of concern in the community.
10 I'll say this honorably and honestly that people are
11 concerned. I won't speak to the merits of the case. I
12 just think you need to be aware that there's a great
13 deal of sensitivity and angst in the community and that
14 we need to address that. I think whether it's
15 addressed in the media or some other way, it's
16 something that a deescalation process needs to take
17 place because people are concerned about it. People
18 are concerned that it appears that in this process what
19 we have reveled about here in Detroit not having what
20 happened in Ferguson, that Commissioner Crawford has
21 said this and so have you that we don't know what
22 little thing might tip that. So I think it's important
23 to make some statements about that now. But I
24 necessarily compliment the legal process after Ms.
25 Worthy makes her statement tomorrow. I think it would

1 be really important to defuse a potential situation
2 that might have a, you know, some challenges related to
3 it. And I think that's it.

4 I think and as far as property goes, I'd like
5 to know how the property room handles things because
6 I've had people come to us, especially in relationship
7 to weapons, where it's been very difficult, and I have
8 to come and some of them people here to see about
9 retrieving weapons that were confiscated wherein effect
10 they needed to have them returned. That's basically in
11 questionable CCW searches where an individual might
12 have a CCW and they ask them if they have a gun, and
13 they say yes, and they can't produce their information
14 at the time. And so in one case one guard that I
15 brought here, he actually lost a job because he
16 couldn't get his gun back, it took him so long to get
17 it. So I'd like to know how those things are handled
18 where you have some questions about that and how can
19 that be expedited because sometimes it takes a long
20 time. I know you have a lot of work to do, but how can
21 that be expedited? I'm just bringing that to your
22 attention.

23 D.C. HALL: Property, do you want to answer
24 that?

25 SERGEANT DIXON: Relative to that particular

1 question, what happens is the officer in charge, we're
2 just a repository in property control, and the
3 circumstances relative to the weapon. And the way that
4 weapon might have come into property controls into our
5 hands, as I said, we just hold that weapon. We have
6 made it easier for releasing weapons as far as the
7 officers in charge through our new Tracker system. The
8 officers in charge, the only thing they have to do is
9 what goes on within the system is called tasking. And
10 what they'll do -- previously they would have to do,
11 the officer in charge would look at the merits of the
12 case and make a determination as to whether or not if
13 this person was being charged if it's a crime and when
14 this person would get their weapon back. Once that
15 determination is made by the officer in charge, they
16 used to have to do what is a computer generated release
17 and a memo which is a 568. That whole process is much
18 easier now. We have the process where citizens are
19 coming much more often and it's much easier through
20 Tracker because all the officer in charge has to do is
21 check a box, send that task to us, stating release --
22 this weapon is no longer needed, please release this
23 evidence to Mr. Jones or Ms. Smith, and we're able to
24 process that, that task within minutes. So we have
25 seen a large increase of weapons being released back to

1 proper owners.

2 D.C. HALL: Thank you.

3 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Yes, sir, Mr. Crawford.

4 COMMISSIONER CRAWFORD: Yes, sir. Through
5 the Chair, I just want to expound a little bit what Mr.
6 Scott said. The previous nights or so I've lost some
7 sleep. 13-year-old was killed in my district. That
8 was my district. Also there was a five-year-old,
9 wasn't my district, still the City of Detroit, shot by
10 a stray bullet. Having listened to Mr. Lee here today
11 talk about this young lady and the threats and stuff,
12 you know, that just adds to the fact that I'll probably
13 lose some more sleep.

14 Now young children are dying in this city for
15 various reasons. Chief is coming up with a number of
16 different plans and all the credit goes in with all the
17 different initiatives and the operations that they're
18 doing out there. But it's in the home. It's with the
19 adults where the responsibility lies here. There needs
20 to be a revolution. But as the bishop that's sitting
21 to me left, there needs to be a spiritual revolution
22 here in this city that's going to occur to change this
23 community.

24 And also too I lose sleep over Aiyana Jones,
25 all that in the last 24 hours. And as you well know,

1 Mr. Scott too, that on the Emergency Manager Order
2 Number 42, you know, this board basically is powerless.
3 I think power was stolen. You know, when something is
4 somebody else's and you take it from them, that's
5 stealing. Emergency Manager stole the power from this
6 board, and as you well know, we're in a constant fight
7 to regain full power as per the City Charter as elected
8 officials to sit on this board.

9 In terms of Officer Wheatley, there are other
10 avenues. I'm sure you will seek them in terms of the
11 justice department, I don't know, civil rights
12 violation, whatever. But it's just that we have a
13 state in this city, and I know and to the credit of
14 this community, the police department, all the hard
15 working officers in the street, the Chief, Deputy
16 Chiefs, everyone, you know, crime is down from the
17 previous year as it's been stated so many times at
18 these meetings. However, to equate, as I've stated
19 before, that it's the lowest in 41 years, which will
20 put us back to 1967, and that was the year of the
21 rebellion. We had 43 people that were killed during
22 that rebellion, 7200 were arrested during the rebellion
23 of '67. And if you want to talk about '67, you know, I
24 was there on, as I say, the east side, that's where I
25 grew up in that area. In '67 we could sleep with our

1 doors open. '67 you parked your car on the street in
2 the middle of the night with the keys in the ignition
3 with the radio going and nobody got in it and took it.
4 In '67 we didn't have stores with Plexiglass. We
5 didn't have corner gas stations with Plexiglass. In
6 '67 there were no purse snatchings, there were no
7 carjackings. So that's my point of reference when we
8 talk about. And of course then in '67 there was 1.5
9 million people residing in the City of Detroit. Today
10 there are, as they say, 688,000. I say 700,000 because
11 they don't count too well when it comes to the City of
12 Detroit.

13 So having said that, just that, you know,
14 what all is being done is going to have to come from
15 within the community. Mr. Scott you've been working in
16 a number of areas in terms of peak zones and we commend
17 you on that work, but it's been some sleepless hours
18 for me recently. I don't sleep too well at night.
19 Thank you.

20 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Yes, sir.

21 MR. RHOADES: Good afternoon. My name is
22 Peter Rhoades. I've been before the board before. I
23 thought I was done being before the board back in
24 September, but here I am again.

25 I want to thank 2nd Deputy Chief Celia

1 Washington and Commander Bettison for the good work
2 they've done. And my small problem, and basically the
3 police department gives tickets, these are criminal
4 misdemeanor tickets, \$500, 93 days in jail, minimum
5 wage people who happen to be behind the counter when
6 the police officer comes in. And the problem is that
7 the owner/manager of the business didn't pay a fee or
8 renew their business license so the clerk gets a ticket
9 for operating a business without a business license. I
10 thought the problem was resolved where the police
11 department stopped issuing these tickets and referred
12 all these matters to the City of Detroit Building
13 Safety Engineering Department. I was the happiest man
14 in town.

15 In December, last month, I was in court and
16 there were these tickets concerning operating without a
17 business license. I tried to find out in January what
18 the status of that teletype was that established the
19 policy that we shouldn't -- that the police department
20 wouldn't be issuing the tickets and they would go over
21 to Building Safety for appropriate action. And of
22 course I don't think the teletype's ever gone out. I
23 think the problem is with Building Safety Engineering,
24 but I really kind of want a status update because I was
25 so happy back in September of 2014 when I thought it

1 was resolved only to find out it's just kind of hanging
2 out there.

3 So it's a small problem, but it's a problem
4 that really should be wrapped up by now so I can go on
5 and put this one to bed. And so if I could ask the
6 board to ask the police department to ask somebody what
7 is the status of the teletype, where's the holdup, and
8 how can I kick this one along? Thank you.

9 D.C. HALL: D.C. Washington.

10 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Thank you, sir.

11 D.C. WASHINGTON: We want to get this fixed
12 so Mr. Rhoades can get on to some other things. The
13 chief is directed that the Detroit Police Department is
14 not in the business of issuing business license
15 tickets. That is not -- that is the responsibility of
16 a different department. And again, I would ask, and
17 Mr. Rhoades and I have had conversations, if you can
18 give me those specific instances where those citations
19 have been issued and we can address it. In terms of
20 the teletype itself, we've been working with Mr. Jones.
21 We actually found that a number, actually goes a little
22 deeper than that, there's only certain businesses that
23 even have to have business licenses in the city. So
24 commander Bettison and I were working with Mr. Jones to
25 make sure that we had the right list of businesses. We

1 have not heard back, and I just texted commander
2 Bettison to see if he heard anything. That's my hold
3 up. We're just trying to make sure that we get the
4 right information for the teletype. But we will follow
5 up with this board in a week and give you a definitive
6 answer.

7 D.C. HALL: Thank you.

8 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Thank you, ma'am.

9 MR. RHOADES: See you in a week. Two weeks.

10 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Any other comments from
11 the audience? If not, we close on that last remark.
12 Commissioners, anything else to cover this body here?
13 We were prescheduled to have a little after meeting,
14 but it's going to be council missing two or three
15 individuals to be in that process so we rescheduled
16 that at another date and time.

17 I just want to mention in closing before we
18 stand adjourned that we had a home going service for
19 one of our own at Greater Grace. It was a tremendous
20 turnout and I would hope that you would keep the family
21 in your prayers in terms of the 12th precinct and the
22 9th precinct just DPD. I was impressed in terms of the
23 service and the remarks that was made in his behalf
24 and, you know, the parents, the wife and the two kids
25 and, you know, it was just a family coming together and

1 I was impressed with that. If the board would be so
2 kind, we normally don't do a closing prayer, but I'm
3 going to ask bishop Vann for a closing prayer to
4 embrace this department and this community not just in
5 terms of their home going service officers that lost
6 their lives and a young boy who lost his eye, it's just
7 ongoing, so surely we can pause if Bishop Vann would
8 render a prayer and we can adjourn at that time. Is
9 that permissible commissioners?

10 (Prayer given).

11 CHAIRPERSON BELL: The chair would entertain
12 a motion for adjournment?

13 COMMISSIONER MOORE: So moved.

14 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Been properly moved and
15 seconded. Ready for the question. Those in favor aye?

16 COMMISSIONERS: Aye.

17 CHAIRPERSON BELL: Those opposed? Motion
18 carries.

19 (The proceeding was concluded at 4:20 p.m.)
20
21
22
23
24
25

1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20
21
22
23
24
25

CERTIFICATE OF NOTARY

STATE OF MICHIGAN)
) SS
COUNTY OF OAKLAND)

I, Melinda R. Womack, Certified Shorthand Reporter, a Notary Public in and for the above county and state, do hereby certify that the above deposition was taken before me at the time and place hereinbefore set forth; that the witness was by me first duly sworn to testify to the truth, and nothing but the truth, that the foregoing questions asked and answers made by the witness were duly recorded by me stenographically and reduced to computer transcription; that this is a true, full and correct transcript of my stenographic notes so taken; and that I am not related to, nor of counsel to either party nor interested in the event of this cause.



Melinda R. Womack

Melinda R. Womack, CSR-3611
Notary Public,
Jackson County, Michigan

My Commission expires: 06-22-2018

A
abetting 35:14
 36:13
able 8:2 13:1
 25:5 27:8 37:3
 37:14 38:18
 43:23
absence 8:10
absolutely 10:1
 16:6 24:22
 33:4 35:1
academy 6:12 7:3
 7:5
accomplice 36:13
accurate 13:10
action 8:20, 20
 10:24 47:21
actively 7:20
 24:2
actual 31:1, 4
 32:5
add 23:19
additional 19:3
 20:16
address 13:20
 17:2, 24 19:1
 38:5 41:14
 48:19
addressed 41:15
adds 44:12
adhere 19:25
adjourn 50:8
adjourned 49:18
adjournment
 50:12
administration
 24:20
adults 44:19
advantage 6:22
Affairs 29:17
afternoon 3:4, 11
 7:11, 13, 14
 25:2 34:8 35:7
 39:15 46:21
age 32:25
agencies 26:2
agenda 5:7 34:4
 34:8
aiding 35:14
 36:13
aim 34:23

Aiyana 41:7
 44:24
Alan 2:17 4:22
 5:5
allowed 36:11
Amendment 40:1, 1
amount 31:2, 4
analysis 26:1
analyst 35:10
angst 41:13
announcement
 34:15
Announcements
 33:16
annual 13:4
 29:14
answer 12:17
 20:4 30:22
 42:23 49:6
answers 51:13
Anthony 2:3 3:15
 3:17, 18, 22, 25
 4:3, 6, 9, 17, 19
 34:5, 6
anticipated 8:3
anymore 12:5
 19:25 31:15
 32:16
anytime 20:3
anyway 20:1
 39:24
apologize 21:24
appeal 39:3
appears 41:18
applaud 6:13
appreciate 16:25
 19:10 20:6
 33:10, 13
appropriate
 47:21
approval 5:16
approve 5:7 7:25
April 8:6
area 8:25 17:21
 33:20 45:25
areas 18:4 24:12
 46:16
arms 22:23 23:15
arraignment
 38:12, 13
arrested 37:5
 45:22

arrests 21:5, 6
asked 4:10, 12
 10:14 38:7
 51:13
assigned 20:16
association 17:8
 18:9
assume 14:10
 30:5 39:6
attend 19:20
attention 17:4
 39:12, 13 41:9
 42:22
attributed 22:15
auction 27:4
auctioneer 27:5
 27:10
auctions 27:6
audience 34:9
 39:14 49:11
audit 29:14, 15
 29:20, 23
authorize 11:12
avenues 45:10
aware 15:6 31:24
 33:5 36:10
 41:12
awareness 32:12
aye 5:14, 22, 23
 50:15, 16
a.m. 21:3, 4

B

baby 39:4, 5
back 4:22 5:5
 11:19 12:22
 14:18 15:3
 16:8, 9 18:24
 18:24 26:10, 22
 28:9, 11, 14, 23
 30:11, 17 31:4
 34:8 36:8 37:4
 37:16, 17 38:19
 42:16 43:14, 25
 45:20 46:23
 47:25 49:1
base 30:11
basically 22:15
 32:21 42:10
 45:2 47:2
battling 19:12
 19:13
bear 22:23 23:15
bed 48:5
beginning 8:6
 17:12
behalf 35:12
 49:23
believe 4:12
 17:3 18:9
Bell 2:4 3:4, 7
 3:14 4:15, 25
 5:6, 11, 15, 21
 5:24 6:8 7:13
 8:14 9:11, 15
 9:21 10:2, 12
 10:16, 20 11:4
 11:7, 9, 23 12:6
 12:9 13:3, 8, 24
 14:3, 6, 14
 15:13 16:13, 17
 16:21 19:4, 18
 20:5, 12, 19
 21:25 24:24
 28:2 30:2, 21
 31:6, 12, 21
 32:17 33:7, 9
 33:14 34:7, 20
 34:24 35:2
 37:23 39:6, 11
 44:3 46:20
 48:10 49:8, 10
 50:11, 14, 17
belong 22:19
 27:7
benefits 6:16
better 28:7
Bettison 47:1
 48:24 49:2
beyond 38:24
Bill's 38:14
bishop 2:5 4:11
 44:20 50:3, 7
bit 6:25 7:2
 22:11 44:5
bi-weekly 26:11
board 1:3 3:6, 7
 3:10, 15, 19
 4:18 6:2 15:8
 17:1, 12 18:12
 20:21 25:4
 32:5 33:17, 25
 34:17 45:2, 6, 8
 46:22, 23 48:6

49:5 50:1
board's 8:11
 17:3
body 49:12
boilers 26:23
books 32:8
bore 18:12
box 43:21
boy 38:5 50:6
breaking 40:14
briefly 5:25
bring 6:10 37:12
 41:8
bringing 39:11
 39:13 42:21
brother 19:23
 36:4
brought 17:3
 30:17,17 42:15
Brundidge 20:14
budget 28:14,24
building 33:23
 34:1 47:12,21
 47:23
built 32:2
bullet 44:10
burn 26:19,24
burned 27:1
burning 26:22
Burton 2:10 3:23
 3:24
business 5:16
 33:14,15,16
 47:7,8,9,9,17
 48:14,14,23
businesses 48:22
 48:25
buybacks 24:18

C

cab 17:5,23 18:1
 18:15
call 3:19 18:14
 32:23
called 20:23
 37:2,3 43:9
calling 17:19
calls 15:8 37:4
cannon 41:1
Captain 17:16
 21:23,24 22:1
car 37:5 38:6,8

46:1
care 40:3
career 6:13
carjackings 46:7
carries 5:16,24
 50:18
carry 41:3
cars 14:5
Carter 2:9 3:20
 3:21
case 7:20 12:1,2
 15:12,23 17:22
 41:11 42:14
 43:12
cases 7:18,18
 22:23 23:1
 24:11 25:25
 30:5 40:8,9,15
cash 21:10 28:14
categories 17:18
 17:22
cause 51:19
CCW 42:11,12
Celia 14:15
 21:19 46:25
Center 33:19
ceremony 6:9,21
 6:25
certain 30:5
 48:22
certainly 25:5
CERTIFICATE 51:1
Certified 51:7
certify 51:9
chain 30:9
chained 30:7
chair 3:7 4:10
 4:12 5:6,17
 11:25 13:23
 29:6,14 34:14
 44:5 50:11
Chairperson 2:4
 3:4,14 4:15,25
 5:6,11,15,21
 5:24 6:8 7:13
 8:14 9:11,15
 9:21 10:2,12
 10:16,20 11:4
 11:7,9,23 12:6
 12:9 13:3,8,24
 14:3,6,14
 15:13 16:13,17

16:21 19:4,18
 20:5,12,19
 21:25 24:24
 28:2 30:2,21
 31:6,12,21
 32:17 33:7,9
 33:14 34:7,20
 34:24 35:2
 37:23 39:6,11
 44:3 46:20
 48:10 49:8,10
 50:11,14,17
challenges 42:2
change 20:18
 44:22
charge 23:12
 36:10 43:1,7,8
 43:11,15,20
charged 8:24 9:5
 9:23 18:11
 22:9,20,21
 23:3 36:12
 43:13
charges 23:6
charter 8:23
 9:25 32:11
 45:7
check 10:25 40:5
 43:21
chief 2:16 4:16
 4:16,19,25 6:5
 6:24 7:9,15,16
 8:15,18 9:8,15
 9:24 10:10
 13:16 14:11,17
 16:13,15,22
 18:8 20:19
 21:15 22:4
 25:4 30:20,24
 34:20,21,21
 39:7,17,21
 40:22 44:15
 45:15 46:25
 48:13
Chiefs 45:16
Chief's 8:20 9:3
 9:10 10:15,23
 11:3,14,17,19
 12:12,15,21,25
 14:7 15:6,19
 16:3 35:21
children 20:25

22:5 23:10
 24:10,13 44:14
circumstances
 22:22 23:13
 40:2 43:3
citations 18:2
 48:18
cited 17:25
citizen 14:24
 15:5,7,9 16:2
citizenry 40:6
citizens 21:14
 24:8 27:7,8
 40:21 43:18
citizen's 8:24
 9:5,18,23
 10:22
city 21:3 22:4
 28:17 44:9,14
 44:22 45:7,13
 46:9,11 47:12
 48:23
city's 29:2
civil 45:11
clarification
 10:11 13:25
 15:14 22:18
 29:2
clarify 31:21
clarity 22:12
class 22:2
clerk 47:8
close 14:23
 16:11 30:6
 35:4 49:11
closing 16:18
 49:17 50:2,3
closure 7:19
cocaine 21:9
combat 35:9
come 11:6 12:16
 12:18 13:11
 15:5 16:3
 18:24 23:7
 27:1,6 28:9
 34:2,12 35:5
 38:18 42:6,8
 43:4 46:14
comes 11:19
 12:19,25 23:15
 25:21 29:17
 34:18 46:11

47:6
coming 3:11 9:2
 14:1 40:12
 43:19 44:15
 49:25
command 11:18, 18
commander 47:1
 48:24 49:1
Commencing 1:11
commend 46:16
comment 13:13
comments 8:15
 19:4 39:13
 49:10
Commission 3:6
 4:18 11:24
 51:25
commissioner 2:5
 2:6, 7, 8, 9, 10
 3:6, 10, 12, 14
 3:18, 20, 21, 22
 3:24, 25 4:2, 3
 4:4, 5, 6, 8, 9, 11
 4:11 5:9, 10, 19
 5:20 6:2, 3, 3
 7:7, 12 11:23
 11:25 12:7
 13:23, 25 14:4
 15:15, 16 19:7
 19:19 20:14
 22:3 23:20
 24:15, 24 28:3
 28:12 29:1, 5
 29:13, 22 30:1
 30:9 33:22
 41:20 44:4
 50:13
commissioners
 1:3 2:1 3:16
 3:19 4:14 5:6
 5:14, 23 7:14
 8:14 13:9 18:9
 19:5 25:5 28:2
 35:7 49:12
 50:9, 16
commit 17:9
committed 21:16
committee 33:15
communicate
 16:12
communication
 15:17, 18 16:4

17:5 19:23
 20:7 34:9
community 17:2
 24:4 31:23
 32:14 33:17
 34:3 41:9, 13
 44:23 45:14
 46:15 50:4
companies 19:14
company 29:8
 35:11
company's 18:14
complaint 10:22
 15:18, 20, 21
complaints 8:24
 9:2, 3, 5, 10, 18
 9:23 11:13
 12:10, 12 13:10
 13:11 14:1, 4, 7
 14:8, 10, 24
 15:5, 7, 10 16:2
 16:11 17:9
complementary
 12:8
complete 10:21
 11:10, 12 12:23
completed 8:1
 18:17
completes 4:24
completion 8:4
compliment 41:24
computer 28:6
 43:16 51:15
concern 8:16, 21
 8:25 12:8 41:9
concerned 41:11
 41:17, 18
concerning 47:16
concerns 13:18
 13:20 30:3
concluded 50:19
concludes 8:13
concurrent 39:23
conducts 11:18
confess 36:14
confession 36:11
confiscated
 22:11 42:9
conniption 17:13
Conrad 4:3
cons 32:25
constant 45:6

contacted 35:16
contention 33:1
continually
 26:17
continue 16:14
continued 7:23
continuing 21:15
Continuous 29:25
control 5:3
 21:19, 22 25:1
 25:6, 8, 10
 29:19 43:2
controls 43:4
conversation
 26:21 35:22
conversations
 48:17
conveying 13:9
convicted 35:13
 36:4, 6 38:18
corner 33:22
 46:5
correct 28:18, 20
 29:4 30:20
 34:5, 6 51:16
costs 27:10, 22
council 13:8
 16:17 18:18
 35:4 49:14
Councilman 19:8
counsel 51:18
counseling 13:17
count 46:11
counter 47:5
country 6:19
county 27:18
 35:16 51:5, 8
 51:24
couple 20:21
course 5:5 28:13
 39:16 46:8
 47:22
court 4:23 25:25
 30:4 35:13
 36:25 37:7
 39:1 47:15
courtroom 36:12
 37:10
cousin 36:2, 8
cover 49:12
covered 32:7
CPR 11:11

Craig 4:16
Craig's 21:15
Crawford 2:6 4:1
 4:2 5:19 6:3
 11:24 12:6, 7
 19:19 29:13, 22
 30:1 33:22
 41:20 44:3, 4
credit 44:16
 45:13
crime 20:25
 28:17 36:5
 38:17 40:8
 43:13 45:16
crimes 21:13
criminal 47:3
critical 20:15
CSR-3611 1:13
 51:22
curious 32:2
currently 7:18
 26:10 28:3
 29:22
Cushingberry
 18:19 19:7, 8
custody 30:10
cut 19:17
C.I 7:11, 14 9:9
 9:12 10:9, 13
 10:18, 21 11:5
 11:8, 10 12:14
 16:16

D

dad 37:4
daily 25:23
DARE 31:8, 9, 14
 31:15 32:7, 13
 32:16
date 8:4 15:2
 49:16
daughter 39:4
David 25:3
Davis-Drake 2:16
 4:20 7:9, 11, 14
 7:15 9:9, 12
 10:9, 13, 18, 21
 11:5, 8, 10
 12:14 16:16
day 3:9, 9 7:5
 28:10 37:4, 10
days 7:21 12:4

14:19 19:3
 36:2,20 38:19
 47:4
dead 38:19
deal 6:15 41:13
debate 6:15
debates 20:8
December 26:7
 47:15
decent 6:18
decorated 35:9
deemed 27:13
deeper 48:22
deescalation
 41:16
definitely 32:4
definitive 49:5
defuse 42:1
degree 35:14
deliver 17:15
Dennis 5:4
department 9:6
 9:19,24 10:7
 14:19 17:6
 18:11 19:11
 24:1 28:25
 34:17 40:10
 45:11,14 47:3
 47:11,13,19
 48:6,13,16
 50:4
department's
 19:14
depending 26:22
deposit 26:3,4
deposited 26:5
deposition 51:9
deposits 27:20
 28:16
deputy 4:16,25
 6:5 9:8,15
 10:10 16:13,22
 20:19 25:3
 30:24 34:20,21
 34:21 36:18
 37:13 39:7,17
 40:22 45:15
 46:25
Derrick 25:2
designed 31:24
destroy 26:7,9
destroyed 38:11

destruction
 26:11
detective 38:1,5
 38:7,10,23
determination
 43:12,15
determined 22:13
 22:13
Detroit 1:3,10
 3:1 9:6,19,24
 18:4 24:1 35:3
 36:7 41:19
 44:9 46:9,12
 47:12 48:13
dialogue 6:16
 9:2
Diehm 5:3 25:3
 25:15 28:5
 29:9,25
different 7:1
 22:9 44:16,17
 48:16
difficult 40:20
 42:7
directed 48:13
directly 9:10
 11:2,11 15:19
director 21:20
 21:21 22:1
disappeared 36:7
disciplinary
 10:24 12:2
 14:20 34:18
disciplined
 13:15
discussion 8:17
dispose 26:15
disposing 26:18
disposition 12:3
disseminate
 24:17
disseminated
 12:21,25
dissuade 40:13
Dist 2:5,6,7,8,9
 2:10
distinguished
 25:7
distresses 22:6
district 18:5
 33:23,24,24
 44:7,8,9

disturbing 24:25
Dixon 5:2 25:2,3
 28:15,19 29:16
 29:24 30:9,20
 33:12 42:25
document 30:12
documentation
 30:13
doing 21:16
 23:25 29:20,22
 35:16 44:18
dollar 31:1,4
dollars 26:6
Donnell 4:11
door 35:4
doors 46:1
dope 32:23
Dorothy 37:25
double 15:3 16:8
downstairs 36:18
downtown 17:21
 18:4
DPD 5:1 11:3
 49:22
draft 18:17
drafting 18:11
Drake 14:17
 16:15
drive 38:6
driver 17:23
drivers 17:5
 18:16 19:10
Driver's 18:8
drug 30:25 31:9
 31:16,24 32:12
 32:18
drugs 32:19
duly 6:10 51:11
 51:14
duplicative 16:9
dying 44:14
D.C 5:2 6:7 9:17
 10:1 11:16
 12:16 13:5
 14:13,15 16:6
 16:20,23,24
 19:9 20:2,10
 20:13,21 21:19
 22:22 23:18,25
 24:22 25:1
 28:18,20 29:4
 30:18 31:1,8

31:14 32:3
 33:4,8 34:14
 34:23 35:1
 39:9 42:23
 44:2 48:9,9,11
 49:7

E

E 2:4
earlier 27:24
early 32:25
easier 43:6,18
 43:19
east 45:24
Edgar 2:5 4:11
educate 31:7
educating 24:3
education 23:21
 30:25 31:3,10
 31:19,24 32:6
 32:9,12,18
effect 5:18 42:9
efficient 25:11
either 7:19
 17:18 18:3
 30:10 31:17
 51:18
elaborate 30:8
elected 45:7
elementary 33:1
Elite 20:23
else's 45:4
embrace 50:4
Emergency 45:1,5
encourage 6:22
 24:9
ended 32:19
enforce 19:14
enforcement
 31:16
engaged 20:17
engaging 32:20
Engineering
 47:13,23
enlighten 32:22
 32:24
ensure 21:14
 23:17
entertain 5:7,17
 50:11
enthused 6:20
entire 36:14

entity 13:12
equate 45:18
especially 30:5
 31:23 33:1
 42:6
essay 35:17
established
 47:18
etcetera 13:22
 13:22
evening 20:21
event 51:18
everybody 23:22
 23:23 40:23
evidence 25:11
 25:13,19,21,23
 25:25 27:25
 30:7,14,16,17
 36:21 38:10
 43:23
exacerbates
 22:17
exactly 14:9
 31:2 33:6
 35:24
example 17:23
Excuse 34:14
excused 4:10,12
exempt 9:25
exonerated 12:4
expanding 37:8
expedited 42:19
 42:21
expending 15:22
experience 15:15
 31:25
experienced 7:1
 22:4
expire 19:1
expires 51:25
expound 44:5
extend 16:19
extended 19:21
extending 18:21
 19:6
extension 7:24
 7:25
extremely 22:5
eye 50:6
e-mail 12:17,19

F

facilitated
 27:17
fact 22:9,18
 28:9 37:19,19
 44:12
failed 23:4
fair 19:17
fairly 13:21
fairness 17:6
familiar 40:10
family 35:20
 49:20,25
far 5:25 42:4
 43:6
fashion 15:24
favor 5:13,22
 50:15
FBI 35:18 36:24
February 33:18
 33:25 34:16
fee 47:7
feedback 6:12
 8:19 9:7 15:4
feel 34:2 40:22
fell 17:18
felon 23:3
felons 22:16,25
felony 21:5
felt 39:24
Fennessey 21:20
Ferguson 41:20
fight 28:17 45:6
fight 19:13
filtered 32:8,14
final 13:13
find 10:23,24
 24:17 37:3
 47:17 48:1
finding 13:13
findings 8:18
 10:5 11:19
fine 37:12
firearm 23:4
firearms 25:14
 25:24 26:7,9
 26:11,16,18
 27:21
first 14:18
 35:14 36:22
 51:11
five 38:19
five-year-old

44:8
fixed 48:11
flexible 34:11
flush 14:9
folks 14:20
follow 49:4
follows 7:17
fond 24:20
Ford 29:9 35:10
fore 40:12
foregoing 51:13
forfeited 26:4
forfeiture 28:13
 28:23 30:22,25
 31:25 32:6
forgive 24:7
form 11:17 15:24
formal 6:23
formalized 32:16
forth 51:11
forthcoming 25:9
forward 6:13
 35:6
found 27:8 48:21
fourth 34:16
free 34:2
freed 27:2
frequent 27:20
Friday 6:1
full 45:7 51:16
fully 22:2
fund 26:5 29:2
funds 28:16

G

Gail 22:1
gang 36:7 37:17
Garrish 14:21
gas 46:5
general 26:5
 29:2
Generally 15:7
generated 43:16
George 2:3 3:15
 3:18
getting 17:11
 34:8
girl 39:4
give 12:10 19:11
 22:11 26:25
 34:9 48:18
 49:5

given 3:13 12:20
 50:10
gives 47:3
giving 6:24
glad 7:2 39:17
go 9:10,18 10:22
 11:2,5,17
 15:19 16:9
 18:24 19:24
 26:14,17 30:19
 35:18 37:16
 39:3 40:17
 47:20 48:4
goal 25:10
goes 26:4 27:14
 28:14,21 29:3
 31:19 42:4
 43:9 44:16
 48:21
going 3:7,11,15
 7:8,10 8:6
 10:14,18 12:12
 20:2 21:12,18
 24:2,5 29:19
 30:23 31:7
 33:6 35:18
 36:9,16,22
 37:15,21 38:7
 39:5 44:22
 46:3,14 49:14
 49:18 50:3,5
good 3:4,9 7:4,6
 7:7,11 20:21
 24:15 25:2
 35:3 39:15
 46:21 47:1
Grace 6:1 49:19
graduate 6:4
graduated 7:3
graduation 6:21
 7:5 22:2
granted 19:2
Gratiot 33:21
great 6:8,15
 35:22 41:12
greater 6:1 15:1
 49:19
grew 45:25
grounds 10:2
group 17:16
guard 42:14
guess 9:21 19:7

31:21
guests 25:7 34:7
guilty 36:20
gun 21:2 22:12
 22:14, 19, 24
 23:9, 9, 11, 13
 24:5, 9, 18
 35:25 39:18, 22
 40:7, 18, 24
 41:2 42:12, 16
gunlocks 24:6, 7
 24:16, 20
guns 22:10, 15
 23:16 26:17
 29:6, 8 40:5, 9
 40:13, 15 41:3
guy 37:18
guys 35:24

H

half 36:3
Hall 4:17, 25 5:2
 6:7 9:17 10:1
 11:16 12:16
 13:5 16:23
 20:20, 21 22:22
 23:25 24:22
 25:1, 4 28:18
 28:20 29:4
 30:18 31:1, 8
 31:14 32:3
 33:4, 8 34:14
 34:21, 23 35:1
 39:7, 9, 17
 42:23 44:2
 48:9 49:7
hand 6:19 18:13
 41:1
handguns 21:6
 26:12
handing 24:5, 8
handle 14:9, 20
 15:19 22:18
 30:4, 6
handled 12:15
 15:10 26:12, 14
 42:17
handles 42:5
hands 14:18 43:5
hanging 48:1
Hanson 4:23
happen 17:14

24:23 32:1
 47:5
happened 35:25
 36:25 37:11
 41:20
happening 32:18
happens 29:18
 43:1
happiest 47:13
happy 20:4 24:21
 47:25
hard 17:14 45:14
Hayes 21:21
hear 22:6, 8, 8
 36:11
heard 17:11
 18:22 26:9
 37:19 49:1, 2
hearing 16:18
heart 22:7
heels 20:24
Hello 25:3
help 24:17, 21
 28:17
helped 35:23
helps 16:5
hereinbefore
 51:10
heroin 21:9
Hi 37:25
high 33:2
high-risk 13:14
hire 18:12
history 18:12
hold 43:5 49:2
holdup 48:7
home 22:25 23:2
 23:14 40:14
 44:18 49:18
 50:5
homeowner 22:20
homes 22:6 23:23
 39:23
homicides 25:22
honestly 20:17
 41:10
Honorable 25:4
honorably 41:10
honored 25:5
hope 37:8 49:20
hopefully 19:24
 34:11

hoping 8:7
hopper 29:11
hospital 38:19
host 21:11
hours 15:22 30:6
 44:25 46:17
house 22:12, 14
 22:19 23:10
housing 15:20
huge 29:11
Human 33:19

I

idea 12:14
identify 38:3, 24
ignition 46:2
import 15:25
important 15:17
 15:18 41:22
 42:1
impressed 22:2
 49:22 50:1
impressive 6:25
incinerator
 27:14
incomplete 7:22
 17:23
increase 43:25
indicate 17:24
indicated 13:16
individual 23:1
 23:3 42:11
individuals
 21:13 22:24, 25
 39:22 40:12, 14
 49:15
information 8:1
 11:21 12:24
 13:1, 6, 7 16:2
 30:15 32:4, 5
 33:5 42:13
 49:4
informed 34:16
initiative 20:6
initiatives
 44:17
inkling 9:4
inside 32:23
insight 13:19
 39:18
instance 8:22
instances 48:18

instrumental
 27:17
intelligent
 40:25
interacting 6:11
interested 51:18
Internal 29:17
Interviews 8:9
introduce 3:16
 4:17 5:1 21:19
introductions
 4:24
inventory 26:8, 9
 26:19, 20 27:12
 28:11
investigating
 8:24
investigation
 7:24 11:12, 19
 12:22
investigator
 2:16 4:20 7:9
 7:15 8:8, 16
 14:17 16:15
Investigator's
 7:16
Invocation 3:13
involved 18:6
 21:13 24:16, 18
involves 9:13
issuance 17:21
issue 14:24
 18:13 19:6, 8
issued 17:19
 18:2, 3, 4 48:19
issues 19:22
issuing 47:11, 20
 48:14
item 5:16 33:14
items 27:2

J

Jack 21:20
Jackson 51:24
jail 47:4
James 4:16
January 1:12 3:2
 5:18 7:17
 17:16 26:6
 47:17
Jarvis 21:23, 24
Jessica 4:9

jewelry 25:24
 37:20
job 42:15
joined 7:7
Jones 14:19 41:8
 43:23 44:24
 48:20,24
Judge 35:13
jury 36:10
justice 10:7
 45:11

K

Kabaka 17:7
 19:23
keep 49:20
keys 46:2
kick 48:8
kids 49:24
kill 36:9,16
 39:4,5
killed 23:6 36:2
 37:20 44:7
 45:21
killing 38:21
kind 15:21 17:13
 22:16 24:12
 47:24 48:1
 50:2
kinds 22:10
kits 27:18 28:4
knew 38:15
know 6:18 8:21
 8:23 9:7,8,21
 9:22 12:20
 13:17 14:6,7,7
 14:11 17:13
 20:4 21:1 22:4
 22:14,14 24:19
 28:17 31:2
 32:3,13,18,23
 32:24 33:3
 34:3 37:14,18
 37:19 38:8,15
 38:25 39:16,20
 40:3,10,21,25
 41:2,4,7,21
 42:2,5,17,20
 44:12,25 45:2
 45:3,6,11,13
 45:16,23 46:13
 49:24,25

knowing 36:3
knowledge 12:13
 32:22
knows 40:19

L

lab 25:25
labs 25:22
lack 17:4
lady 35:22,25
 36:1 44:11
large 43:25
law 14:19 18:10
 19:15,16 32:2
 32:8 38:22
laws 32:6
lead 35:11
leader 36:6
 37:16
learned 27:23
led 23:5
Lee 35:7,8 37:24
 44:10
left 44:21
legal 23:2,9,16
 36:23 37:15
 41:24
Lele's 38:14
Lemon 31:12
letter 35:17
 36:24
license 38:6
 47:8,9,17
 48:14
licenses 48:23
lied 38:8
lies 37:8 44:19
life 36:1 38:19
lights 18:6
limit 34:10
limited 17:22
Linden 25:18
line 36:1
Lisa 2:9 3:20
list 48:25
listen 38:2
listened 44:10
little 3:8 6:25
 7:2 20:11
 22:11 41:1,22
 44:5 48:21
 49:13

lives 50:6
locate 37:17
located 25:16,18
locations 25:14
 25:15 31:17
locks 24:9
log 30:25
long 18:10 26:17
 29:6,8 41:2
 42:16,19
longer 18:23
 43:22
look 13:20 39:2
 43:11
looked 10:3
looking 6:13 8:5
looks 8:7
loop 14:23 16:11
lose 44:13,24
lost 42:15 44:6
 50:5,6
lot 23:15 31:13
 38:10 40:11
 41:9 42:20
lots 26:3
lowest 6:19
 45:19

M

mail 12:17
maintained 30:10
making 11:20
 30:6 31:23
Mallett 4:4
man 38:17 47:13
manage 27:25
managed 25:15
management 25:11
Manager 45:1,5
mandate 9:25
March 8:5
marching 6:24
Massachusetts
 37:20
matter 28:9
matters 47:12
ma'am 9:11 10:12
 10:16 12:7
 14:14 39:6
 49:8
McNichols 33:20
mean 14:1 40:1

means 14:10
mechanism 16:5
media 9:1 41:15
meet 18:18 26:15
meeting 1:5 3:5
 5:1,8 17:3
 18:10,19 19:20
 20:14 33:17,25
 34:2,4,8 39:8
 39:10 49:13
meetings 19:25
 24:4 34:3
 45:18
Melinda 1:13
 51:7,22
melt 29:10,11
members 17:8
memo 43:17
men 36:12 40:15
mention 49:17
mentioned 39:18
merits 41:11
 43:11
mesh 13:12
met 18:8
MGM 17:24,25
mic 7:10 16:14
 34:13
Michigan 1:1,10
 3:1 26:12 28:8
 31:17 51:3,24
middle 46:2
Mike 14:21,22
 31:12 38:9
Mile 33:19,21
military 7:2
million 26:6
 46:9
mind 10:10 16:22
Mindy 4:23
minimum 47:4
minute 6:9
minutes 5:17
 34:10 37:8,11
 43:24
misdemeanor 47:4
missing 15:11
 49:14
momentarily 4:21
money 6:17,17
 25:23 26:3,4
 27:9 30:22

31:19,25
monies 27:19
monitor 13:17
monitoring 29:18
month 12:11
 17:12 18:21,21
 33:19 47:15
monthly 7:8
months 10:7
Moore 2:7 4:4,5
 5:9,20 13:23
 13:25 14:4
 29:1 50:13
moratorium 16:20
 17:10,19,20
 18:3,20,25
 19:21
mother 36:16
 37:9,21
motion 5:7,15,17
 5:24 50:12,17
Motor 35:10
Mott 38:1,6,7,10
move 7:6 8:3
moved 5:9,11,19
 5:21 8:4 50:13
 50:14
moving 6:24
murder 35:14,14
 36:14 37:5

N

Nam 35:9
name 34:10 35:8
 37:25 46:21
named 38:12,13
narcotic 28:19
 30:11
narcotics 21:9
 25:13,24 26:19
 26:22,24 27:1
 27:2,3,21 30:4
 30:11
nature 9:22
 33:19
nearly 25:22
 26:5 28:7
necessarily
 40:13 41:24
necessary 15:4
 32:13
need 8:11 9:21

9:22 13:12,19
 23:14 24:16
 31:21 41:12,14
needed 7:22
 42:10 43:22
needs 23:21
 41:16 44:19,21
neighborhood
 24:1 32:9
 37:16
neither 38:14
nephew 38:3,12
 38:20,24,25
 39:2
network 18:14
new 26:25 30:13
 33:15 43:7
news 21:1
night 46:2,18
nights 44:6
nine 38:2
normally 50:2
Northwest 36:7
Notary 51:1,8,23
notated 30:16
notes 51:17
November 37:1
number 12:9,12
 12:13,19,21,21
 17:15 35:15
 37:7 38:6
 44:15 45:2
 46:16 48:21
numerous 40:11

O

OAKLAND 51:5
oath 6:24
obvious 28:13
occur 44:22
OCI 7:8,16 15:2
 15:8,11,22
 16:8
OCI's 34:19
October 18:21
offenses 22:10
office 2:16 9:3
 9:10,25 10:15
 10:17,19,22,23
 11:3,14,20
 12:12,15 13:1
 14:7 15:6,19

16:3 23:12
 35:21
officer 30:16
 33:10 36:9
 37:2 38:2,22
 40:19 43:1,11
 43:15,20 45:9
 47:6
officers 6:4,9
 6:11,15,23
 13:15,15 14:1
 24:2 25:7,16
 27:14,25 30:4
 30:10 31:6,10
 31:16,20,22
 32:10 43:7,8
 45:15 50:5
officials 45:8
Okay 10:21 31:6
 33:7
old 14:19,25
 33:16
once 8:4 12:22
 26:21 28:21
 36:15 37:22
 43:14
ones 11:5
one's 7:2
ongoing 20:8
 50:7
open 3:12 7:18
 46:1
opening 3:12
opens 27:12
operating 47:9
 47:16
operation 20:22
 20:24 21:3,11
 21:12
operations 44:17
opportunity 6:1
 6:10,14 16:25
 35:5
opposed 5:15,24
 50:17
Oral 34:9
order 12:3 20:22
 45:1
ordinance 18:13
 18:18,20
outcome 8:19,22
 9:20,22 13:21

15:4
outcomes 34:18
overall 9:6
 12:10
overloading 18:1
oversight 15:25
overwhelmed
 37:13
overwhelms 37:22
owner 22:13 23:9
owners 26:2 44:1
owner/manager
 47:7
Oxendine 21:20

P

page 34:25
Pages 1:7
Pamela 2:16 4:20
 7:9,15
parents 24:3
 49:24
parked 46:1
part 13:4 22:8
 23:20 26:7
particular 15:20
 42:25
partner 25:3
party 51:18
passenger 18:7
passionate 40:25
pause 50:7
pay 6:18 47:7
peak 46:16
people 18:15
 22:15 23:14
 31:23 32:20
 34:3 40:4,9
 41:10,17,17
 42:6,8 45:21
 46:9 47:5
perceived 17:9
Perkins 5:4
permissible 50:9
perpetrated
 24:13
person 22:20
 36:21 43:13,14
personally 20:11
personnel 5:1
 12:2 27:10
persons 22:9

perspective 15:25
Peter 46:22
Petty 17:16
phone 15:7
pick 38:7
picture 39:1
piece 20:15
 24:20 32:7
pieces 25:12,23
 27:25 29:20,21
pills 21:8
place 23:21
 32:15 33:17,25
 41:17 51:10
plaguing 21:2
plaintiff 15:21
planning 8:12
plans 44:16
Plant 29:10
plate 38:6
please 16:22
 34:2,9,23
 43:22
pleased 6:12
pleasure 8:11
 18:23
Plexiglass 46:4
 46:5
point 8:11 13:25
 24:25 29:1
 46:7
points 36:21
police 1:3 3:6
 3:10 4:18 6:2
 6:9,14 8:18
 9:6,19,24
 19:11,14 24:1
 24:2 25:4,16
 26:13,16 28:8
 28:14,23,25
 31:22 32:9
 37:1,5 38:2
 45:14 47:3,6
 47:10,19 48:6
 48:13
policing 32:15
policy 47:19
pool 13:11
popup 29:18
pose 30:23
possession 23:3

27:1,7
potential 42:1
power 45:3,5,7
powerless 45:2
prayer 3:12 50:2
 50:3,8,10
prayers 49:21
precinct 24:4
 49:21,22
precincts 11:6
 25:21
prescheduled
 49:13
Present 2:14
 3:21,24 4:2,5
 4:8
presentation
 17:12 21:22
 25:8
presenting 5:4
 34:17
President 18:18
president's
 18:23
prevent 24:12
prevention 30:25
previous 15:15
 44:6 45:17
previously 43:10
prior 6:11
prison 39:3
prisoner 30:18
 30:19
private 29:7
privately 39:7
privy 9:12,13
 11:2,14
proactive 24:11
 24:12
probably 23:20
 28:5 30:22
 44:12
problem 22:17
 47:2,6,10,23
 48:3,3
proceeding 50:19
proceedings 4:22
proceeds 21:7,8
 26:4
process 7:4
 11:20 12:23
 20:18 23:21

25:21,22 28:21
 30:7,19 32:15
 35:19 36:23
 37:15 41:16,18
 41:24 43:17,18
 43:24 49:15
processes 28:22
processing 27:17
 30:12,18
produce 42:13
production 35:12
professional
 27:5,10
profile 13:7
program 28:8
 31:9,14,15
 32:13,16
programmer 35:11
project 27:19
promotion 6:5
 7:5
proper 30:7 44:1
properly 5:11,21
 23:5,11 50:14
property 5:3
 21:18,22 25:1
 25:6,8,10 26:1
 27:4,13 29:19
 33:10 42:4,5
 42:23 43:2,4
pros 32:25
prosecutor 35:17
 37:7
prosecutor's
 23:12 27:19
protect 24:10
 39:22 40:7,18
provide 13:1
 15:4 32:11
providing 32:10
 35:3
public 32:11
 34:1 35:3 51:8
 51:23
purposes 10:11
purse 46:6
purview 8:2
put 12:2 17:24
 28:11 29:11
 30:15 36:8
 45:20 48:5
putting 37:17

p.m 1:11 3:3
 50:19

Q

question 5:12
 9:18 11:1 13:3
 19:20 22:3
 28:12,13 29:5
 30:3,21,23
 43:1 50:15
questionable
 42:11
questions 8:15
 20:3 28:1 30:2
 33:9 39:21
 42:18 51:13
quick 8:3 14:16
 28:12 34:15,22
 41:6
quickly 14:13
 16:24 19:9
Quinn 2:17 4:22
 5:5
quite 6:23 20:16
quorum 4:13,13

R

R 1:13 2:7 4:12
 51:7,22
radio 46:3
raised 6:19
raising 19:5
 39:21
random 15:9
rape 27:18 28:3
reach 14:22 20:4
Reached 20:12
reactive 24:11
ready 5:12 50:15
real 19:6
really 6:25 8:21
 8:22 10:4
 13:12,19 19:5
 20:11 21:2,4
 24:25 30:3
 32:17,23 40:17
 42:1 47:24
 48:4
reasonable 15:25
 16:3 40:25
reasons 44:15
rebellion 45:21

45:22,22
receive 14:8
 25:20 31:18
received 28:10
 30:16
receives 14:7
 16:10
recognize 21:2
record 3:18 7:15
recorded 51:14
Recorder 2:17
recording 4:21
Recruit 6:4
red 18:6
reduce 26:18,20
reduced 27:19,20
 27:21,22 51:15
reduces 27:11
refer 15:8
reference 6:15
 8:15,17 9:5,7
 10:5 13:14,17
 22:1,17 30:24
 31:25 32:20,24
 46:7
referred 47:11
regain 45:7
regard 22:10
regarding 24:4
 34:18
Reginald 2:6
 3:25
registered 23:9
regular 1:5
 12:17
regulated 18:15
regulation 26:16
related 42:2
 51:17
relation 9:1
relations 24:4
relationship
 42:6
relative 42:25
 43:3
release 43:16,21
 43:22
released 43:25
releasing 43:6
remark 49:11
remarks 6:10
 9:16 49:23

render 50:8
Renee 4:16
renew 47:8
renovations 8:4
report 5:25 7:8
 7:16,22 8:13
 8:16 10:6,22
 11:11 13:4,9
 13:21 20:22
 34:17
reported 9:1
Reporter 51:8
Reporting 4:23
reports 11:2
 33:15
repository 43:2
represent 6:2
request 7:24,25
 18:22
reschedule 8:12
rescheduled 8:9
 49:15
research 17:17
 40:11
residing 46:9
resolved 9:3
resolve 19:8
 20:7
resolved 47:10
 48:1
respect 34:12
respectful 34:12
respective 11:18
respond 9:16
 14:12
response 16:7
 34:22
responsibility
 23:10,16,17
 39:25 40:2
 44:19 48:15
responsible
 40:24
Restore 20:22
result 8:9
retired 35:10
retrieving 42:9
return 26:1
returned 27:8
 42:10
reveled 41:19
reverting 14:18

review 10:6
reviewed 7:22
revolution 44:20
 44:21
Reynolds 17:7
 38:9
Rhoades 46:21,22
 48:12,17 49:9
Ricardo 2:7 4:4
Richard 2:8 4:6
rid 26:8
right 6:19 7:6
 10:18 16:7
 19:3 21:18
 22:23,24 23:2
 23:15 24:6,25
 25:12,17 26:10
 29:19,20 33:22
 35:20 36:16
 40:1 48:25
 49:4
rightful 26:1
rights 45:11
Road 33:20
robbed 37:20
robbing 38:21
role 19:14
roll 3:19
Ron 20:14 39:15
room 4:21 25:17
 26:25 42:5
roster 12:21
Rouge 29:10
route 11:17
Roy 35:8
running 18:6

S

safe 21:14
safety 18:5,7
 23:17 24:5,9
 34:1 39:19
 47:13,21,23
salary 6:16
sales 27:5
saluted 21:25
sat 37:10
saves 27:9,10
saw 37:10
saying 12:24
 37:9 40:22
says 37:4

scenario 40:20
scheduled 18:25
school 6:4 33:1
 33:2
schools 32:10,11
 32:11
Scott 21:21
 39:15,15 44:6
 45:1 46:15
searches 42:11
second 5:20 8:12
 33:18
seconded 5:22
 50:15
Secondly 41:6
secretary 2:3
 3:15,17,18,22
 3:25 4:3,6,9
 4:19 17:1 34:6
secure 23:4,11
security 25:11
see 7:6,7 14:22
 22:7 25:13
 27:11,16 32:17
 38:25 42:8
 49:2,9
seeing 24:13
 40:9
seek 45:10
seen 21:1 39:1
 43:25
sell 32:21
send 43:21
sensitivity
 41:13
sent 11:11 12:22
 31:10,17 38:8
September 46:24
 47:25
sergeant 4:22
 5:2,3,4 6:6
 14:8 16:10
 25:2,15 28:5
 28:15,19 29:9
 29:16,24,25
 30:20 33:12
 42:25
sergeants 25:7
 25:15 27:24
 33:10
series 8:13
serious 13:18

40:17
serve 6:20
service 4:24
 20:6 33:19
 49:18,23 50:5
serving 35:9
session 6:23
 8:12
set 51:11
sets 16:1
settled 15:23
settling 12:1
Severstal 26:17
 29:7,9
SGT 2:17
shape 15:24
share 25:6
sheets 17:22
Shelby 2:8 3:12
 4:7,8 5:10 6:3
 11:23,25 28:3
 29:5
shoot 40:16
shooting 38:21
shootings 22:5
shoot-don't-s...
 40:20
Shorthand 51:7
shot 23:6 37:18
 38:5 44:9
shotguns 21:6
side 45:24
siders 33:21
similar 15:21
simply 14:25
 17:24
sir 4:15,19
 13:24 22:2
 24:22 29:14
 34:23 35:1
 37:23 39:12
 44:3,4 46:20
 48:10
sit 45:8
site 25:18
sitting 4:16
 12:23 44:20
situation 41:7,8
 42:1
six 4:13 33:19
 33:21
slack 19:17

sleep 44:7,13,24
 45:25 46:18
sleepless 46:17
slew 15:9
slip 11:17
slow 17:11
small 47:2 48:3
Smith 43:23
snatchings 46:6
snowflakes 3:8
somebody 45:4
 48:6
somewhat 6:18
 13:4 17:10
 34:11
son 35:12 36:4
 37:2 38:13,13
 38:15,15,20
 39:3
soon 19:15
sophisticated
 33:3
sorry 10:10
 21:23
sort 13:12 14:11
space 26:25 27:3
 27:12
speak 13:5 16:21
 41:11
speaking 9:9
 31:8,22,22
 36:22
specific 48:18
specifically
 14:2 40:14
spent 30:24
spiritual 44:21
spring 8:6
Sr 35:8
SS 51:4
stabbed 38:17
staff 4:17 15:22
stand 49:18
standing 4:22
 33:15
stands 18:1
 20:16
start 26:22
started 18:20
 32:19 37:1,6
starting 6:18
 28:9

starts 37:22
state 1:1 19:12
 26:12,13,14,15
 26:16 28:8
 45:13 51:3,9
stated 27:24
 38:9 45:17,18
statement 38:14
 39:23 41:25
statements 35:3
 41:23
states 31:18
stating 43:21
stations 46:5
statistics 12:11
stats 12:11 21:4
status 47:18,24
 48:7
statute 19:13
stay 11:7,9
 38:20
stealing 45:5
steel 29:10
stenographic
 51:16
stenographically
 51:14
stepped 4:20
stole 45:5
stolen 45:3
stop 40:8
stopped 47:11
storage 27:12
 28:4,11
store 25:19
 26:10 37:21
 38:4
stores 46:4
stories 22:7,8
story 36:14,15
straight 9:19
strategic 8:12
stray 44:10
street 1:9 21:7
 21:10 32:22
 33:24 45:15
 46:1
strongly 39:23
 40:23
students 24:3
stuff 44:11
submit 40:3

submitted 7:19
 7:21,24 8:18
successes 27:16
successful 20:23
 21:12
suggested 16:18
suggesting 39:21
supervisor 7:20
support 5:10
 12:10 21:21
 35:18,19
supported 5:12
sure 9:17 11:20
 12:14 13:2
 15:3 16:1,11
 23:22,23 30:7
 32:4 33:5 35:2
 45:10 48:25
 49:3
surely 50:7
surround 23:13
surrounding
 23:18
suspension 17:20
sworn 51:11
system 28:6
 30:13,14,15
 35:10,12 43:7
 43:9

T

tags 25:13
take 6:22 7:10
 20:10 23:21
 25:23 27:15
 29:10 30:11
 33:17,25 38:20
 41:16 45:4
taken 1:9 6:14
 51:10,17
takes 32:15
 42:19
talk 16:10 35:21
 37:2,9,21 39:7
 39:9 44:11
 45:23 46:8
talked 17:1
 36:18 38:1
talking 13:14
 29:6 37:13,22
talks 36:9,17
Talon's 35:13

targeting 8:10
task 43:21, 24
tasking 43:9
taxi 17:5, 23
 18:1, 15
taxicab 18:8
 19:10 20:16
Taylor 4:10
tech 21:21
teletype 47:18
 48:7, 20 49:4
teletype's 47:22
television 40:17
tell 36:14 37:14
telling 35:20
temporary 17:20
terms 7:5 8:17
 8:19 9:1 13:18
 13:19 14:10
 15:5 19:6 22:1
 30:6 32:2
 40:15 45:9, 10
 46:16 48:19
 49:21, 22 50:5
tested 28:7
testify 51:12
texted 49:1
thank 3:4, 10, 14
 3:17 4:15
 13:22 15:13
 16:13, 14, 16, 17
 19:5, 18, 21
 20:5, 6, 9, 19
 24:24 30:1
 33:8, 10, 12
 34:20 37:23, 24
 39:11, 12 40:21
 44:2 46:19, 25
 48:8, 10 49:7, 8
thanks 19:23
theory 40:4
thing 16:4 20:13
 22:16 41:22
 43:8
things 10:14
 14:16, 17 18:6
 20:18, 22 28:23
 28:24 35:15
 36:24 42:5, 17
 48:12
think 9:24 10:4
 10:13 11:1, 20

12:4 13:16
 14:21 15:9, 16
 15:17, 24 16:3
 18:25 19:16
 20:3, 17, 18
 22:6 24:6
 33:23 40:19, 23
 40:24 41:12, 14
 41:22, 25 42:3
 42:4 45:3
 47:22, 23
Third 1:9 25:17
thought 19:7
 46:23 47:10, 25
threat 36:15
threats 44:11
three 12:3 17:18
 25:16 27:24
 35:4 36:12, 20
 49:14
threshold 15:2
Thursday 1:12
 3:2 5:18 7:17
 33:18 34:16
ticket 47:8
tickets 17:15, 18
 17:21 21:11
 47:3, 4, 11, 16
 47:20 48:15
time 11:22 29:15
 31:5 34:10
 35:11 40:20
 42:14, 20 49:16
 50:8 51:10
timeframe 16:19
 30:5
times 11:13 35:4
 38:17 45:17
tip 41:22
Tish 14:19, 22
today 5:4 7:16
 35:12 44:10
 46:9
told 19:24 35:23
 35:24 36:2, 15
 38:21, 25 40:6
tomorrow 41:25
TOMPKINS 37:25
ton 15:6
Tonja 18:10
total 7:18 28:5
totally 13:10

touched 39:16
tours 35:9
town 40:6 47:14
tracked 11:16, 21
 12:20
Tracker 30:13, 14
 30:15 43:7, 20
tracking 9:4
 30:14
trained 6:10
training 28:24
 31:3, 10, 16, 18
 31:19 32:7, 9
 32:10 39:18
 41:2
transcript 51:16
transcription
 51:15
transfer 25:20
transferring
 30:4
transpiring 10:5
transportation
 18:14
tremendous 49:19
tried 47:17
trip 17:22
truck 27:15
true 10:9 17:6
 51:16
truth 51:12, 12
try 20:7 26:8
 32:21
trying 13:20
 14:9, 11 17:8
 24:10 34:4
 49:3
turn 13:6 26:2
 40:15
turnout 49:20
tweak 18:19
two 7:25 10:13
 14:16 21:6
 25:14, 15 26:22
 27:24 30:3
 34:10 35:9
 36:2, 12 37:8
 37:11 49:9, 14
 49:24
type 8:19 20:8

U

Uber 18:13
umbrella 29:17
unaware 36:19
unclaimed 26:4
 28:22
understand 9:17
 16:5 23:14
understanding
 8:21
understands
 23:22, 24
underway 3:8
unfortunate 22:5
unit 30:19
update 7:9 8:3
 47:24
upstairs 16:9
upwards 21:9
use 32:21 40:13
usually 11:17
 12:16 29:16
utilize 24:9
U-turns 18:6

V

vacancy 8:8
valuable 27:3, 12
valuables 27:6
value 25:25
 27:14
Vann 2:5 4:11
 7:7 15:15 22:3
 23:20 24:15, 25
 28:12 50:3, 7
various 31:11, 17
 44:15
vary 22:22
vehicle 18:11
verdict 36:20
versus 12:19
veteran 35:9
victim 23:5
victims 20:25
video 38:12, 13
 39:1
Viet 35:9
vigorous 31:16
vigorously 21:12
violation 17:10
 45:12
violations 18:2
 18:5

violence 21:2
 24:12
violent 20:25
 21:13
vociferous 39:20

W

wage 47:5
wait 39:3
walked 21:23
want 3:5, 10 5:1
 5:25 6:21 13:5
 15:8 19:5, 11
 19:12, 20 20:7
 32:22, 24 33:23
 34:12, 24, 25
 35:5 37:2, 9
 41:4, 8 42:23
 44:5 45:23
 46:25 47:24
 48:11 49:17
wanted 14:17
 15:16 34:15
 37:12
wants 19:8, 9
war 32:19
WASHINGTON
 16:20
Washington 14:12
 14:13, 15, 15
 16:6, 14, 24
 19:9 20:2, 10
 20:13 21:19
 34:21 47:1
 48:9, 11
wasn't 14:25
 17:2 20:17
 44:9
watch 21:15
way 6:5 15:24
 16:8 18:15
 24:17 38:23
 40:18 41:15
 43:3
Wayne 27:18
 35:16
weapon 23:2, 4
 43:3, 4, 5, 14, 22
weapons 42:7, 9
 43:6, 25
weather 8:7
week 6:11 8:10

9:1 18:19 19:2
 21:1, 17 35:13
 49:5, 9
weekly 3:5
weeks 8:1 26:22
 49:9
welcome 3:5
went 7:4 21:3
 38:4
west 33:20 40:4
 40:5
we'll 7:6 16:10
 19:1 24:22
 26:14, 15, 24, 24
 35:15
we're 3:7 6:12
 7:8 8:6, 10
 13:14 14:9, 11
 17:19 18:19
 21:14, 15, 16, 18
 23:25 24:5, 10
 24:11, 13 25:5
 26:17 29:19
 33:5 35:18, 20
 37:14 40:9
 43:1, 23 45:6
 49:3
we've 19:2 21:1
 22:4 26:21
 35:16 48:20
Wheatley 45:9
White 4:12
wife 49:24
wild 40:4, 5
William 35:8
Willie 2:4, 10
 3:7, 22
Winter 20:23
witness 6:21
 51:11, 14
Womack 1:13 4:23
 51:7, 22
woman 37:18
women 40:16, 16
wonderful 21:4
Woody 14:8
word 36:8 37:17
work 7:23 19:24
 34:4 42:20
 46:17 47:1
working 15:23
 16:1 17:14

26:11, 17 45:15
 46:15 48:20, 24
works 9:8
Worthy 41:25
wouldn't 37:14
 38:2, 3, 24
 47:20
wrapped 48:4
wrenching 22:7
written 19:15, 16
 35:17
wrote 36:23

Y

Yeah 20:2, 10
year 13:10 27:2
 35:3 36:3
 39:21 45:17, 20
years 38:2 45:19
yesterday 16:18
 18:22 20:15, 17
 20:23 21:3, 10
 28:10 35:21
 36:19 37:12
 41:7
young 22:5 31:23
 32:20 35:25
 36:1, 16 44:11
 44:14 50:6

Z

zones 46:16

\$

\$10,000 21:8
\$226,000 21:7
\$49,000 21:10
\$500 47:4

0

06-22-2018 51:25

1

1 1:7 2:8
1st 26:6
1.5 26:5 46:8
10,000 27:18
107 25:17
11,000 28:6
12 21:6
12th 33:18 49:21
13 41:3

13-year-old 23:5
 44:7
1301 1:9 25:17
13560 33:19
15 10:7
18-month 15:2
1800 13:10
185 7:18
1967 45:20

2

2 2:5
2nd 18:25 40:1
 46:25
200 24:6
2000 24:7, 7, 7
 35:17
2013 36:1, 10
2014 26:6, 7
 47:25
2015 1:12 3:2
 5:18 7:17
21st 37:1
22nd 5:18
24 7:18 21:5
 44:25
27 6:3, 9 38:17
29 1:12 3:2 7:17

3

3 2:6 21:4
3rd 18:25 19:1
3:00 1:11 3:3
 34:1
30 19:3
31st 26:7
34 21:5

4

4th 19:1 39:25
4:20 50:19
40,000 25:14
 26:10
400 27:19
400,000 29:20
41 45:19
42 45:2
42,000 25:13
420,000 25:12
 27:25 29:21
43 45:21
450 28:10

5

5 2:10
5th 34:1
50 31:18
51 1:7
568 43:17

6

6 2:9
6,300 27:2
67 45:23, 23, 25
46:1, 4, 6, 8
688,000 46:10

7

7 2:7 21:3
700 25:22, 23
700,000 46:10
71 7:1
7200 45:22

8

8,000 28:7

9

9th 17:15 49:22
9-11 32:19
90 7:21
93 47:4